UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

August 18, 2021 **Date of Report (Date of earliest Event Reported)**



The Chemours Company

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction Of Incorporation)

001-36794 (Commission File Number)

46-4845564 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1007 Market Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801 (Address of principal executive offices)

(302) 773-1000 (Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Not Applicable (Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

	cate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging	1 0	105 of the Securities Act of 1933 (17 CFR §230.405		
Common Stock (\$0.01 par value)		CC	New York Stock Exchange		
	Title of Each Class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of Exchange on Which Registered		
Seci	urities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:				
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))				
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))				
	Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)				
	Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)				
	ck the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is in owing provisions:	tended to simultaneously satisfy the fi	ling obligation of the registrant under any of the		

Emerging growth company \square

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. \Box

Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

The information set forth in Item 8.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K regarding the 2020 Base Indenture (as defined below), the 2021 Second Supplemental Indenture (as defined below) and the Notes (as defined below) is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 2.03 Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant.

The information set forth in Item 8.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K regarding the Notes is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 8.01 Other Events.

Offering of 4.625% Senior Notes due 2029

On August 18, 2021, The Chemours Company (the "Company") closed the private offering (the "Offering") of \$650,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the Company's 4.625% Senior Notes due 2029 (the "Notes"), pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement"), dated as of August 4, 2021, by and among the Company, the guarantors named therein (the "Guarantors") and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as representative of the several initial purchasers named therein. The Notes were issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 27, 2020 (the "2020 Base Indenture"), between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"), as supplemented by the Second Supplemental Indenture setting forth the terms of the Notes, dated as of August 18, 2021, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and the Trustee (the "2021 Second Supplemental Indenture" and together with the 2020 Base Indenture, the "Indenture"). The aggregate net proceeds from the Offering, \$643,500,000, are expected to be used, together with cash on hand, to repurchase or redeem, as applicable, all of the Company's outstanding 7.000% Senior Notes due 2025 (the "2025 Notes").

The Notes were offered in the United States to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act and to institutional accredited investors (as defined in Rule 501(a)(1), (2), (3) or (7) under the Securities Act) in reliance on a private placement exemption from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D of the Securities Act. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable exemption from registration requirements or a transaction not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act or any state securities laws.

The Company will pay interest on the Notes, semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning on November 15, 2021. The Notes will mature on November 15, 2029.

The Company may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, from time to time at its option, prior to November 15, 2024, at redemption prices equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus the applicable "make-whole" premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. Also, at any time prior to November 15, 2024, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at a price equal to 104.625% of the principal amount of such Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. On or after November 15, 2024, the Company may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, from time to time at its option, at the redemption prices set forth in the 2021 Second Supplemental Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. In the event of the occurrence of both (1) a Change of Control (as defined in the Indenture) and (2) a related lowering of the rating of the Notes by either of the Ratings Agencies (as defined in the 2021 Second Supplemental Indenture) within a specified period, unless the Company has previously exercised its optional redemption right with respect to the Notes in whole, the Company will be required to offer to repurchase the Notes from the holders at a price in cash equal to 101% of the then outstanding principal amount of the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of repurchase.

The Indenture includes certain covenants, including limitations on the Company's ability to create certain liens on its assets or consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of its assets, subject to a number of important exceptions as specified in the Indenture. The Notes are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company and rank equally with all of the Company's existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness outstanding from time to time. The Indenture contains customary event of default provisions.

2025 Notes Amendments

On August 18, 2021, the Company, the Guarantors and the Trustee entered into the Sixth Supplemental Indenture (the "Sixth Supplemental Indenture") to the base indenture, dated as of May 12, 2015 (the "2015 Base Indenture"), among the Company, the guarantors party thereto, the Trustee, Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch (formerly known as Elavon Financial Services Limited, UK Branch), as the Paying Agent and Elavon Financial Services DAC (formerly known as Elavon Financial Services Limited), as the Registrar and Transfer Agent. The Sixth Supplemental Indenture effects certain amendments (the "2025 Notes Amendments") to the 2015 Base Indenture, as supplemented by the Second Supplemental Indenture (the "Second Supplemental Indenture"), dated as of May 12, 2015, among the Company, the guarantors party thereto and the Trustee, setting forth the terms of the 2025 Notes. Holders representing a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Notes outstanding (excluding any 2025 Notes owned by the Company or any Guarantor or by any person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with the Company or any Guarantor) consented to the 2025 Notes Amendments.

The 2025 Notes Amendments amend the 2015 Base Indenture, as supplemented by the Second Supplemental Indenture, to shorten the minimum notice period: (i) for any optional redemption of the 2025 Notes by the Company on or after May 15, 2020, from at least 30 days but not more than 60 days to at least two business days but not more than 60 days; and (ii) for any optional redemption of the 2025 Notes by the Company at any time, following a tender offer for all of the outstanding 2025 Notes at a price of at least 100% of the principal amount of the 2025 Notes tendered and where at least 90% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 2025 Notes have tendered, from at least 30 days but not more than 60 days to at least one business day but not more than 60 days.

The foregoing descriptions of the 2020 Base Indenture, the 2021 Second Supplemental Indenture, the form of Notes, the 2015 Base Indenture, the Second Supplemental Indenture and the Sixth Supplemental Indenture do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the full text of these documents, which are filed as Exhibits 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 respectively, to this Current Report on Form 8-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

On August 17, 2021, the Company issued a press release announcing the early tender results of the previously announced tender offer and consent solicitation and receipt of the requisite consents to approve the 2025 Notes Amendments, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference. On August 18, 2021 the Company issued a press release announcing the completion of the Offering, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 99.2 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits

(d) Exhibits

- Exhibit 4.1 Indenture, dated as of November 27, 2020, among The Chemours Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to The Chemours Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on November 27, 2020).
- Exhibit 4.2 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 18, 2021, among The Chemours Company, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee.
- Exhibit 4.3 Specimen 4.625% Senior Notes Due 2029 (included in Exhibit 4.2).
- Exhibit 4.4 Indenture, dated May 12, 2015 by and among The Chemours Company, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch (formerly known as Elavon Financial Services Limited, UK Branch), as paying agent with respect to the Euro Notes and Elavon Financial Services DAC (formerly known as Elavon Financial Services Limited), as registrar and transfer agent with respect to the Euro Notes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to The Chemours Company's Amendment No. 3 to Form 10, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on May 13, 2015).

Exhibit 4.5	Second Supplemental Indenture, dated May 12, 2015, by and among The Chemours Company, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to The Chemours Company's Amendment No. 3 to Form 10, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on May 13, 2015).
Exhibit 4.6	Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 18, 2021, among The Chemours Company, the guarantors party thereto, U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch, as paying agent and Elavon Financial Services DAC, as registrar and transfer agent.
Exhibit 99.1	Press release dated as of August 17, 2021 issued by The Chemours Company.
Exhibit 99.2	Press release dated as of August 18, 2021 issued by The Chemours Company.
Exhibit 104	The cover page from this Current Report on Form 8-K, formatted in Inline XBRL.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY

Date: August 18, 2021 By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE

Dated as of August 18, 2021

among

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY, as Issuer,

THE SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS PARTY HERETO,

and

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee,

to the Indenture, dated as of November 27, 2020, relating to Senior Debt Securities

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
	ARTICLE 1	
	DEFINITIONS	
SECTION 1.1	Definition of Terms	1
	ARTICLE 2	
	GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	
SECTION 2.1	Designation and Principal Amount	15
SECTION 2.2	Maturity	15
SECTION 2.3	Form of Notes; Global Form	15
SECTION 2.4	Transfer and Exchange of Global Notes	16
SECTION 2.5	Interest	16
SECTION 2.6	Redemption	17
SECTION 2.7	Offer to Purchase	18
SECTION 2.8	Ranking	20
SECTION 2.9	Registrar and Paying Agent	20
	ARTICLE 3	
	SUBSIDIARY GUARANTEES	
SECTION 3.1	Subsidiary Guarantee	20
SECTION 3.2	Limitation on Subsidiary Guarantor Liability	22
SECTION 3.3	Releases	22
SECTION 3.4	Successors and Assigns	23
SECTION 3.5	No Waiver	23
SECTION 3.6	Execution and Delivery of Subsidiary Guarantee	23
SECTION 3.7	Non-Impairment	23
SECTION 3.8	Benefits Acknowledged	24
SECTION 3.9	Guarantees by Domestic Subsidiaries	24
	ARTICLE 4	
	ADDITIONAL COVENANTS	
SECTION 4.1	Limitation on Liens	24
SECTION 4.2	Reports by the Company	25
	ARTICLE 5	
	DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES	
SECTION 5.1	Events of Default	28

	ARTICLE 6	
	DEFEASANCE AND COVENANT DEFEASANCE	
SECTION 6.1	Covenant Defeasance	29
	ARTICLE 7	
	ORIGINAL ISSUE OF NOTES	
SECTION 7.1	Original Issue of Notes	30
	ARTICLE 8	
	MISCELLANEOUS	
SECTION 8.1	No Sinking Fund	30
SECTION 8.2	Ratification of Indenture	30
SECTION 8.3	Trustee Not Responsible for Recitals	30
SECTION 8.4	Governing Law	31
SECTION 8.5	Separability	31
SECTION 8.6	Reserved	31
SECTION 8.7	Second Supplemental Indenture Governs	31
SECTION 8.8	Counterparts	31
APPENDIX	Rule 144A/Regulation S Appendix	
EXHIBIT A EXHIBIT B	Form of 4.625% Senior Note due 2029 Form of Supplemental Indenture to be Delivered by Additional Subsidiary Guarantors	

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of August 18, 2021 (this "Second Supplemental Indenture"), among THE CHEMOURS COMPANY, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), each of the Subsidiary Guarantors party hereto or that becomes a Subsidiary Guarantor pursuant to the terms of this Second Supplemental Indenture and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"), under an Indenture dated as of November 27, 2020, between the Company and the Trustee (the "Base Indenture" and, together with the Second Supplemental Indenture, the "Indenture"). All capitalized terms used in this Second Supplemental Indenture and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given such terms in the Base Indenture.

WHEREAS, the Company desires to establish, under the terms of the Base Indenture, a series of its Securities (such securities being of the type referred to in the Base Indenture and in this Second Supplemental Indenture as the "Securities") to be known as its 4.625% Senior Notes due 2029 (the "Notes"), the form and substance of such Notes and the terms, provisions and conditions thereof, to be set forth as provided in the Base Indenture and in this Second Supplemental Indenture;

WHEREAS, this Second Supplemental Indenture is being entered into pursuant to the provisions of Article 10 of the Base Indenture to establish the terms of the Notes in accordance with Section 2.03 of the Base Indenture, to add the Subsidiary Guarantors as obligors and to issue the Notes in accordance with Section 2.01 of the Base Indenture;

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Trustee execute and deliver this Second Supplemental Indenture; and

WHEREAS, all requirements necessary to make this Second Supplemental Indenture a valid instrument in accordance with its terms and to make the Notes, when executed by the Company and authenticated and delivered by the Trustee, the valid obligations of the Company, have been performed, and the execution and delivery of this Second Supplemental Indenture have been duly authorized in all respects.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the purchase and acceptance of the Notes by the Holders (as defined below) thereof, and for the purpose of setting forth, as provided in the Base Indenture, the form and substance of the Notes and the terms, provisions and conditions thereof, the Company covenants and agrees with the Trustee as follows:

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.1 Definition of Terms.

(a) Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Second Supplemental Indenture shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Base Indenture.

- (b) For purposes of this Second Supplemental Indenture, the following terms have the meanings given to them in this Section 1.1(b):
- "Additional Notes" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b).
- "Applicable Premium" means, as calculated by the Company with respect to any Note on any redemption date, the greater of:
- (1) 1.0% of the principal amount of such Note; and
- (2) the excess, if any, of (a) the present value at such redemption date of the redemption price of such Note at November 15, 2024 (such redemption price being set forth in the table appearing in Section 2.6(a)), plus all required interest payments due on such Note through November 15, 2024 (excluding accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate as of such redemption date plus 50 basis points; over (b) the principal amount of such Note.
- "Applicable Procedures" means, with respect to any transfer, redemption or exchange of or for beneficial interests in any Global Note, the rules and procedures of the Depositary that apply to such transfer, redemption or exchange.
- "Attributable Debt" means, with respect to any Sale/Leaseback Transaction, the present value (discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease involved in such Sale/Leaseback Transaction) of the total obligations of the lessee for rental payments during the remaining term of the lease included in such Sale/Leaseback Transaction (including any period for which such lease has been extended). In the case of any lease that is terminable by the lessee upon payment of a penalty, the Attributable Debt shall be the lesser of: (1) the Attributable Debt determined assuming termination upon the first date such lease may be terminated (in which case the Attributable Debt shall also include the amount of the penalty, but no rent shall be considered as required to be paid under such lease subsequent to the first date upon which it may be so terminated); and (2) the Attributable Debt determined assuming no such termination.

"Bankruptcy Law" means Title 11, U.S. Code or any similar federal or state law for the relief of debtors, or the law of any other jurisdiction relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, winding up, liquidation, reorganization or relief of debtors.

"Capital Lease Obligations" of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use other than operating leases) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital or finance leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP, and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of Section 4.1, a Capital Lease Obligation shall be deemed to be secured by a Lien on the property being leased and such property shall be deemed to be owned by the lessee. Notwithstanding any changes in GAAP after the Issue Date, any lease of such Person at the time of its incurrence of such lease that would be characterized as an operating lease under GAAP in effect on the Issue Date (whether such lease is entered into before or after the Issue Date) shall not constitute a Capital Lease Obligation of such Person under the Indenture as a result of such changes in GAAP.

"CFC" means (a) a Person that is a "controlled foreign corporation" for purposes of the Code and (b) each Subsidiary of any such Person.

"Change of Control" means the occurrence of any one of the following: (1) the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to any Person (including any "person" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act)), other than to the Company or one of its Subsidiaries; (2) the Company becomes aware (by way of a report or any other filing pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act, proxy, vote, written notice or otherwise) of the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any merger or consolidation) the result of which is that any Person (including any "person" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act)) becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the outstanding Voting Stock of the Company, measured by voting power rather than number of shares; or (3) the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

"Change of Control Repurchase Event" means the occurrence of both a Change of Control and a Rating Event.

"Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Expense" means, with respect to any Person for any period, the total amount of depreciation and amortization expense and capitalized fees related to any Qualified Securitization Transaction or a receivables facility and amortization of intangible assets, debt issuance costs, commissions, fees and expenses, including the amortization of deferred financing fees of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period on a consolidated basis and otherwise determined in accordance with GAAP (excluding, in each case, amortization expense attributable to a prepaid cash item that was paid in a prior period).

"Consolidated Interest Expense" means, with respect to any Person for any period, without duplication, the sum of:

(1) consolidated interest expense of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, to the extent such expense was deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income (including (a) amortization of original issue discount resulting from the issuance of Indebtedness at less than par, (b) all commissions, discounts and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of credit or bankers' acceptances, (c) non-cash interest payments (but excluding any non-cash interest expense attributable to the movement in the mark to market valuation of Hedging Obligations or other derivative instruments pursuant to GAAP), (d) the interest component of Capital Lease Obligations and (e) net payments, if any, made (less net payments, if any, received) pursuant to interest rate Hedging Obligations with respect to Indebtedness but excluding (i) penalties and interest relating to taxes; (ii) accretion or accrual of discounted liabilities not constituting Indebtedness, (iii) any expense resulting from the discounting of any outstanding Indebtedness in connection with the application of purchase accounting in connection with any acquisition, (iv) amortization of deferred financing fees, debt issuance costs, commissions, fees and expenses, (v) any expensing of bridge,

commitment and other financing fees and (vi) commissions, discounts, yield and other fees and charges (including any interest expense) related to any Qualified Securitization Transaction or receivables facility); plus

- (2) consolidated capitalized interest of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, whether paid or accrued; less
- (3) interest income for such period.

For purposes of this definition, interest on a Capital Lease Obligation shall be deemed to accrue at an interest rate reasonably determined by such Person to be the rate of interest implicit in such Capital Lease Obligation in accordance with GAAP.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, with respect to any Person for any period, the aggregate of the Net Income of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, on a consolidated basis, and otherwise determined in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that, without duplication,

- (1) the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles and changes as a result of the adoption or modification of accounting policies during such period shall be excluded;
- (2) any after-tax effect of income (loss) from abandoned or discontinued operations and any net after-tax gains or losses on disposal of abandoned or discontinued operations shall be excluded;
- (3) any net after-tax gains or losses (less all fees and expenses relating thereto) attributable to asset dispositions or the sale or other disposition of any Capital Stock of any Person other than in the ordinary course of business, as determined in good faith by the Company, shall be excluded;
- (4) the Net Income for such period of any Person that is not a Subsidiary or is an Unrestricted Subsidiary or that is accounted for by the equity method of accounting shall be excluded; <u>provided</u> that Consolidated Net Income of the Company will be increased by the amount of dividends or distributions or other payments that are actually paid in cash (or to the extent converted into cash) or cash equivalents to the referent Person or a Restricted Subsidiary thereof in respect of such period (other than any such proceeds that are used to make an Investment by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary in a joint venture to the extent funded with the proceeds of a cash dividend or other cash distribution made by such joint venture);
 - (5) [Reserved];
- (6) any after-tax effect of income (loss) from the early extinguishment of Indebtedness or Hedging Obligations or other derivative instruments shall be excluded;
- (7) any impairment charge or asset write-off or write-down, including impairment charges or asset write-offs or write-downs related to intangible assets,

physical assets (including commodities and inventory), long-lived assets or investments in debt and equity securities or as a result of a change in law or regulation, in each case, pursuant to GAAP and the amortization of intangibles arising pursuant to GAAP shall be excluded;

- (8) any non-cash compensation or similar charge or expense or reduction of revenue, including any such charge or amount arising from grants of stock appreciation or similar rights, stock options, restricted stock or other rights and any cash charges associated with the rollover, acceleration or payout of Equity Interests by management, other employees or business partners of the Company or any of its direct or indirect parent companies or subsidiaries shall be excluded;
- (9) any acquisition, disposition, recapitalization, Investment, asset sale, issuance, repayment or amendment of Indebtedness, issuance of Equity Interests, refinancing transaction or amendment or modification of any debt instrument (in each case, including any such transaction consummated prior to the Issue Date and any such transaction undertaken but not completed), any non-cash expenses or charges recorded in accordance with GAAP relating to currency valuation of foreign denominated debt and any charges or non- recurring merger costs incurred during such period as a result of any such transaction including, without limitation, any non-cash expenses or charges recorded in accordance with GAAP relating to equity interests issued to non-employees in exchange for services provided in connection with any acquisition or business arrangement (in each case, including any such transaction consummated prior to the Issue Date and any such transaction undertaken but not completed) shall be excluded:
- (10) all extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring charges, gains and losses (whether cash or non-cash) (including, without limitation, all restructuring costs, facilities relocation costs, acquisition integration costs and fees, including cash severance payments made in connection with acquisitions, and any expense or charge related to the repurchase of Capital Stock or warrants or options to purchase Capital Stock), and the related tax effects according to GAAP shall be excluded;
- (11) inventory purchase accounting adjustments and amortization and impairment charges resulting from other purchase accounting adjustments in connection with acquisition transactions shall be excluded; and
 - (12) the following items shall be excluded:
 - (a) any net unrealized gain or loss (after any offset) resulting in such period from Hedging Obligations and the application of ASC 815 Derivatives and Hedging; and
 - (b) foreign currency and other non-operating gain or loss and foreign currency gain (loss) included in other operating expenses including any net unrealized gain or loss (after any offset) resulting in such period from currency translation gains or losses related to currency remeasurements of Indebtedness (including any net loss or gain resulting from hedge agreements for currency exchange risk).

"Consolidated Net Secured Leverage Ratio" means, as of the date of determination, the ratio of (a) the Secured Indebtedness of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries as of such date of determination less unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries as of such date of determination (in each case, determined after giving pro forma effect to such incurrence of Indebtedness, and each other incurrence, assumption, guarantee, redemption, retirement and extinguishment of Indebtedness as of such date of determination; provided that the cash proceeds of any proposed incurrence of Indebtedness shall not be included in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents for purposes of this definition) to (b) EBITDA of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries for the most recent four fiscal quarter period ending immediately prior to such determination date for which internal financial statements are available.

In the event that the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary incurs, assumes, guarantees, redeems, retires or extinguishes any Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness incurred under any revolving credit facility unless such Indebtedness has been permanently repaid and has not been replaced) or issues or redeems Disqualified Stock or preferred stock subsequent to the commencement of the period for which the Consolidated Net Secured Leverage Ratio is being calculated but prior to or simultaneously with the event for which the calculation of the Consolidated Net Secured Leverage Ratio is made, then the Consolidated Net Secured Leverage Ratio shall be calculated giving pro forma effect to such incurrence, assumption, guarantee, redemption, retirement or extinguishment of Indebtedness, or such issuance or redemption of Disqualified Stock or preferred stock, as if the same had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period.

For purposes of making the computation referred to above, Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, mergers, consolidations and disposed operations (as determined in accordance with GAAP) that have been made by the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries during the four-quarter reference period or subsequent to such reference period and on or prior to or simultaneously with the Consolidated Net Secured Leverage Ratio calculation date shall be calculated on a pro forma basis, assuming that all such Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, mergers, consolidations and disposed operations (and the change in any associated fixed charge obligations and the change in EBITDA resulting therefrom) had occurred on the first day of the four-quarter reference period. If since the beginning of such period any Person that subsequently became a Restricted Subsidiary or was merged with or into the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries shall have made any Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, consolidation or disposed operation that would have required adjustment pursuant to this definition, then the Consolidated Net Secured Leverage Ratio shall be calculated giving pro forma effect thereto for such period as if such Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, consolidation or disposed operation had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period.

For purposes of this definition, whenever pro forma effect is to be given to an Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, consolidation, disposed operation or any other transaction, the pro forma calculations shall be made in good faith by a responsible financial or

accounting officer of the Company (and may include, for the avoidance of doubt and without duplication, cost savings and operating expense reduction resulting from such Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, consolidation, disposed operation or other transaction, in each case calculated in the manner described in the definition of "EBITDA" herein). If any Indebtedness bears a floating rate of interest and is being given pro forma effect, the interest on such Indebtedness shall be calculated as if the rate in effect on the Consolidated Net Secured Leverage Ratio calculation date had been the applicable rate for the entire period (taking into account any Hedging Obligations applicable to such Indebtedness). Interest on a Capital Lease Obligation shall be deemed to accrue at an interest rate reasonably determined by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Company to be the rate of interest implicit in such Capital Lease Obligation in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of making the computation referred to above, interest on any Indebtedness under a revolving credit facility computed on a pro forma basis shall be computed based upon the average daily balance of such Indebtedness during the applicable period except as set forth in the first paragraph of this definition. Interest on Indebtedness that may optionally be determined at an interest rate based upon a factor of a prime or similar rate, a Eurocurrency interbank offered rate, or other rate, shall be deemed to have been based upon the rate actually chosen, or, if none, then based upon such optional rate chosen as the Company may designate.

"Consolidated Net Tangible Assets" means, as at any date, the aggregate amount of assets of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP, and excluding assets of any Securitization Special Purpose Entity that is a Restricted Subsidiary) after deducting therefrom (1) (to the extent otherwise included therein) all goodwill, trade names, trademarks, service marks, patents, unamortized debt discount and expense and all other intangible assets and (2) all current liabilities (excluding current liabilities of any Securitization Special Purpose Entity that is a Restricted Subsidiary), all as set forth on the most recent quarterly or annual (as the case may be) consolidated balance sheet or the notes thereto for which internal financial statements are available of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP.

"Coupon Rate" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

"Credit Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2018, by and among the Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other agents and lenders party thereto, as such agreement may be amended, modified, supplemented, restated, extended, renewed, refinanced, replaced or substituted from time to time in one or more agreements or instruments (in each case with the same or new lenders, investors, purchasers or other debtholders), including pursuant to any agreement extending the maturity thereof or otherwise restructuring all or any portion of the Indebtedness thereunder or increasing the amount loaned or issued thereunder.

"Credit Facilities" means one or more debt facilities (including the Credit Agreement and the Existing Notes), commercial paper facilities, securities purchase agreements, indentures or similar agreements, in each case, with banks or other institutional lenders or investors providing for revolving loans, term loans, receivables financing (including through the sale of receivables to lenders or to special purpose entities formed to borrow from lenders against such receivables), letters of credit or the issuance of debt securities, including any related notes, guarantees,

collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and, in each case, as amended, modified, supplemented, restated, extended, renewed, refinanced, replaced or substituted from time to time.

"Default" means any event that is, or after notice or passage of time or both would be, an Event of Default.

"<u>Depositary</u>" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, or any successor thereto registered as a clearing agency pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act or other applicable statute or regulation.

"<u>Disqualified Stock</u>" means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock of such Person that, by its terms, or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is putable or exchangeable, or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable (other than solely as a result of a change of control or asset sale and other than redeemable for Capital Stock of such Person that is not itself Disqualified Stock) pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof (other than solely as a result of a change of control or asset sale and other than redeemable for Capital Stock of such Person that is not itself Disqualified Stock), in whole or in part, in each case prior to the date that is 91 days after the maturity date of the Notes; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if such Capital Stock is issued to any plan for the benefit of employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employees, such Capital Stock shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased by the Company or its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations.

"<u>Domestic Subsidiary</u>" means any Subsidiary incorporated or organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof or the District of Columbia other than a Foreign Subsidiary Holding Company.

"EBITDA" means, with respect to any Person for any period, the Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period:

- (1) increased (without duplication) by the following, in each case (other than clause (g)) to the extent deducted (and not added back) in determining Consolidated Net Income for such period:
 - (a) provision for taxes based on income or profits or capital gains, including, without limitation, state, franchise and similar taxes, and foreign withholding taxes and penalties and interest relating to taxes of such Person paid or accrued during such period; plus
 - (b) Consolidated Interest Expense of such Person for such period; plus
 - (c) Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Expense of such Person for such period; plus
 - (d) the amount of any restructuring charges, integration, business optimization and acquisition, investment or disposal-related costs (whether

incurred prior to, or after, the consummation of any such acquisition, investment or disposal), retention charges, stock option and any other equity-based compensation expenses deducted (and not added back) in such period in computing Consolidated Net Income, including any one-time costs incurred in connection with acquisitions, investments or disposals before or after the Issue Date and costs related to the closure and/or consolidation of facilities or headcount reductions or other similar actions (including severance charges in respect of employee terminations); plus

- (e) any other non-cash charges, including any write-offs or write-downs, reducing Consolidated Net Income for such period (provided that if any such non-cash charges represent an accrual or reserve for potential cash items in any future period, the cash payment in respect thereof in such future period shall be subtracted from EBITDA to such extent, and excluding amortization of a prepaid cash item that was paid in a prior period); plus
- (f) income attributable to non-controlling interests in Subsidiaries to the extent deducted (and not added back) in such period in calculating Consolidated Net Income; plus
- (g) the amount of net cost savings and operating expense reductions projected by the Company in good faith to be realized as a result of actions initiated or to be initiated or taken on or prior to the date that is 12 months after the consummation of any acquisition, amalgamation, merger or operational change or other action, plan or transaction and prior to or during such period (calculated on a pro forma basis as though such cost savings had been realized on the first day of such period), net of the amount of actual benefits realized during such period from such actions; provided that (x) such cost savings are reasonably identifiable and quantifiable and (y) no cost savings shall be added pursuant to this clause (g) to the extent duplicative of any expenses or charges relating to such cost savings that are either excluded in computing Consolidated Net Income or included (i.e., added back) in computing "EBITDA" for such period; provided, further, that the adjustments pursuant to this clause (g) may be incremental to (but not duplicative of) pro forma adjustments made pursuant to the definition of "Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio"; provided, further, that the aggregate amount of add backs made pursuant to this clause (g) shall not exceed an amount equal to 15% of EBITDA for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ended prior to the determination date (without giving effect to any adjustments pursuant to this clause (g)); plus
 - (h) [Reserved]; plus
- (i) the amount of any earn-out payments, contingent consideration or deferred purchase price of any kind in conjunction with acquisitions; plus

- (j) losses to the extent reimbursable by third parties in connection with any acquisition permitted hereunder, as determined in good faith by the Company; and
- (2) decreased by (without duplication) non-cash gains increasing Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period, excluding any non-cash gains to the extent they represent the reversal of an accrual or reserve for a potential cash item that reduced EBITDA in any prior period.
- "Equity Interests" means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock, but excluding any debt security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock.
- "Equity Offering" means any public or private sale of Capital Stock of the Company (excluding Disqualified Stock), other than: (i) public offerings with respect to the Company's common stock registered on Form S-8; (ii) issuances to any Subsidiary of the Company or to any management equity plan or stock option plan or any other management or employee benefit plan or agreement of the Company; and (iii) any offering of common stock issued in connection with a transaction that constitutes a Change of Control.
 - "Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- "Existing Notes" means the Company's (1) 7.000% Senior Notes due 2025, (2) 4.000% Senior Notes due 2026, (3) 5.375% Senior Notes due 2027 and (4) 5.750% Senior Notes due 2028, in each case issued and outstanding on the Issue Date.
- "Foreign Subsidiary Holding Company" means any Restricted Subsidiary substantially all of whose assets consist of Capital Stock and/or Indebtedness of one or more CFCs.
 - "Global Note" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(b).
 - "Guaranteed Obligations" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.
- "Holder," "note holder" or other similar term means any person in whose name the Notes are registered on the Security Register kept by the Company in accordance with the terms hereof.
 - "Initial Notes" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).
 - "Interest Payment Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

"Investments" means, with respect to any Person, all investments by such Person in other Persons (including affiliates) in the form of loans (including guarantees), advances or capital contributions (excluding accounts receivable, trade credit, advances to customers, commission, travel and similar advances to directors, officers, employees and consultants in each case made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other securities issued by any other Person and investments that are required by GAAP to be classified on the balance sheet (excluding the notes) of the Company in the same manner as the other investments included in this definition to the extent such transactions involve the transfer of cash or other property.

The amount of any Investment outstanding at any time shall be the original cost of such Investment, reduced by any dividend, distribution, interest payment, return of capital, repayment or other amount received in cash or cash equivalents by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in respect of such Investment.

"Issue Date" means August 18, 2021.

"<u>Material Indebtedness</u>" means Indebtedness (other than the Notes and the Subsidiary Guarantees) of any one or more of the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors in an aggregate principal amount exceeding \$100,000,000.

"Maturity Date" means the date on which the Notes mature and on which the principal shall be due and payable together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Services Inc. and its successors.

"<u>Net Income</u>" means, with respect to any Person, the net income (loss) of such Person, determined in accordance with GAAP and before any reduction in respect of preferred stock dividends.

"Permitted Liens" means, with respect to any Person:

- (1) Liens securing Indebtedness (including Capital Lease Obligations) incurred to finance the acquisition, construction, purchase, replacement or lease of, or repairs, improvements or additions to, property, plant or equipment (whether through the direct purchase of assets or the Capital Stock of any Person owning such assets) of such Person (plus additions, improvements, accessions and replacements and customary deposits in connection therewith and proceeds, products and distributions therefrom); provided, however, that the Lien may not extend to any other property owned by such Person or any of its Subsidiaries at the time the Lien is incurred (other than assets and property affixed or appurtenant thereto or pursuant to customary after-acquired property clauses), and the Indebtedness (other than any interest thereon) secured by the Lien may not be incurred more than 12 months after the later of such acquisition, completion of construction, purchase, replacement or lease of, repairs, improvement or additions to, such property, plant or equipment subject to the Lien;
 - (2) Liens existing on the Issue Date not otherwise constituting Permitted Liens;
- (3) Liens on assets, property or shares of Capital Stock (plus additions, improvements, accessions and replacements and customary deposits in connection therewith and proceeds, products and distributions therefrom) of another Person at the time such other Person becomes a Subsidiary of such Person (other than a Lien incurred in connection with, or to provide all or any portion of the funds or credit support utilized to consummate, the transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which such Person

becomes such a Subsidiary); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Liens may not extend to any other property owned by such Person or any of its Subsidiaries (other than assets and property affixed or appurtenant thereto or pursuant to customary after-acquired property clauses);

- (4) Liens on assets or property (plus additions, improvements, accessions and replacements and customary deposits in connection therewith and proceeds, products and distributions therefrom) at the time such Person or any of its Subsidiaries acquires the assets or property, including any acquisition by means of a merger or consolidation with or into such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person (other than a Lien incurred in connection with, or to provide all or any portion of the funds or credit support utilized to consummate, the transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which such Person or any of its Subsidiaries acquired such property); provided, however, that the Liens may not extend to any other property owned by such Person or any of its Subsidiaries (other than assets and property affixed or appurtenant thereto or pursuant to customary after-acquired property clauses);
 - (5) Liens securing Indebtedness or other obligations of a Subsidiary of such Person owing to such Person;
 - (6) Liens securing Hedging Obligations;
- (7) Liens to secure any refinancing (or successive refinancings) as a whole, or in part, of any Indebtedness secured by any Lien referred to in Section 4.1(b), or in the foregoing clause (1), (2), (3) or (4); <u>provided, however</u>, that: (A) such new Lien shall be limited to all or part of the same property and assets that secured or, under the written agreements pursuant to which the original Lien arose, could secure the original Lien (plus additions, improvements, accessions and replacements and customary deposits in connection therewith and proceeds, products and distributions therefrom); and (B) the Indebtedness secured by such Lien at such time is not increased to any amount greater than the sum of (x) the outstanding principal amount or, if greater, committed amount of the Indebtedness described under Section 4.1, or in the foregoing clause (1), (2), (3) or (4) at the time the original Lien became a Permitted Lien, plus accrued interest thereon, and (y) an amount necessary to pay any fees, commissions, discounts and expenses, including premiums, related to such refinancing, refunding, extension, renewal or replacement;
 - (8) Liens incurred to secure cash management services in the ordinary course of business;
 - (9) Liens securing the Notes (including any Additional Notes);
- (10) Liens securing Indebtedness under Credit Facilities in an aggregate outstanding principal amount not to exceed the greater of (a) \$3.20 billion and (b) such amount as would not cause the Consolidated Net Secured Leverage Ratio to exceed 2.50:1.00;

- (11) Indebtedness incurred by a Securitization Special Purpose Entity pursuant to a Qualified Securitization Transaction that is without recourse to the Company or to any Restricted Subsidiary other than a Securitization Special Purpose Entity (other than Standard Securitization Undertakings) in an aggregate outstanding principal amount not to exceed the greater of \$500 million and 10% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets; and
- (12) Liens securing Indebtedness of an Unrestricted Subsidiary that becomes a Restricted Subsidiary in accordance with the Indenture; <u>provided</u> that such Subsidiary was an Unrestricted Subsidiary at the time such Indebtedness was originally incurred and such Indebtedness was not incurred in contemplation of such Unrestricted Subsidiary becoming a Restricted Subsidiary.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

"Qualified Securitization Transaction" means any transaction or series of transactions entered into by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary pursuant to which the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary sells, conveys, grants a security interest in or otherwise transfers to a Securitization Special Purpose Entity, and such Securitization Special Purpose Entity sells, conveys, grants a security interest in or otherwise transfers to one or more other Persons, any Securitization Assets (whether now existing or arising in the future).

"Rating Agency" means (1) each of Moody's and S&P; and (2) if either of Moody's or S&P ceases to rate the Notes or fails to make a rating of the Notes publicly available for reasons outside of the Company's control, a "nationally recognized statistical rating organization" within the meaning of Section 3(a)(62) of the Exchange Act, selected by the Company as a replacement agency for Moody's or S&P, or both of them, as the case may be.

"Rating Event" means the rating on the Notes is lowered by either of the Rating Agencies within 60 days from the earlier of (1) the date of the public notice of an arrangement that could result in a Change of Control and (2) the occurrence of a Change of Control (which period shall be extended for so long as the rating of the Notes is under publicly announced consideration for possible downgrade by any of the Rating Agencies).

"S&P" means S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global, Inc., and its successors.

"Sale/Leaseback Transaction" means an arrangement relating to real or tangible personal property owned by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary on the Issue Date or thereafter acquired by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary whereby the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary sells or otherwise transfers such property to a Person and the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary thereafter rents or leases it for substantially the same purpose or purposes as the property sold or transferred from such Person.

"Secured Indebtedness" means any Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries secured by a Lien.

"Securitization Assets" means (i) all receivables, inventory or royalty or other revenue streams transferred in connection with asset securitization transactions by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary pursuant to documents relating to any Qualified Securitization Transaction, (ii) all rights arising under the documentation governing or related to receivables (including rights in respect of Liens securing such receivables and other credit support in respect of such receivables), any proceeds of such receivables and any lockboxes or accounts in which such proceeds are deposited, spread accounts and other similar accounts (and any amounts on deposit therein) established in connection with a Qualified Securitization Transaction, any warranty, indemnity, dilution and other intercompany claim, arising out of the documents relating to such Qualified Securitization Transaction and other assets that are transferred or in respect of which security interests are granted in connection with asset securitizations involving accounts receivable, and (iii) all collections (including recoveries) and other proceeds of the assets described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii).

"Securitization Special Purpose Entity" means a Person (including, without limitation, a Restricted Subsidiary) created in connection with the transactions contemplated by a Qualified Securitization Transaction, which Person engages in no activities and holds no assets other than those incidental to such Qualified Securitization Transaction.

"Significant Subsidiary" shall mean any Subsidiary that would be a "significant subsidiary" of the Company within the meaning of Rule 1-02 under Regulation S-X promulgated by the Commission and, for the purpose of determining whether an Event of Default has occurred, any group of Subsidiaries that combined would be such a Significant Subsidiary.

"<u>Standard Securitization Undertakings</u>" means all representations, warranties, covenants, indemnities, performance guarantees and servicing obligations entered into by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (other than a Securitization Special Purpose Entity) that are customary in connection with any Qualified Securitization Transaction.

"Subsidiary Guarantees" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

"Subsidiary Guarantor" means each Subsidiary of the Company that executes this Second Supplemental Indenture on the Issue Date as a guarantor and each other Subsidiary of the Company that thereafter guarantees the Notes pursuant to the terms of the Indenture.

"Treasury Rate" means, as of any redemption date, the yield to maturity as of such redemption date of United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 that has become publicly available at least two business days prior to the redemption date (or in connection with a discharge, two business days prior to the date of deposit with the Trustee or paying agent, as applicable) (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to November 15, 2024; provided, however, that, if the period from the redemption date to the stated maturity date of the notes to be redeemed is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used.

(c) All references in this Second Supplemental Indenture to Section numbers shall be to the Sections of this Second Supplemental Indenture, unless indicated otherwise.

ARTICLE 2

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

SECTION 2.1 Designation and Principal Amount.

- (a) There is hereby authorized and established under the terms of the Indenture a series of the Company's Securities designated the "4.625% Senior Notes due 2029" initially limited in aggregate principal amount to no more than \$650,000,000 ("Initial Notes"), which amount shall be as set forth in one or more written orders of the Company for the authentication and delivery of the Notes pursuant to Section 2.06 of the Base Indenture.
- (b) The Company may, from time to time, without notice to or consent of the Holders of the Notes, issue additional Securities having the same interest date, maturity and other terms as the Initial Notes (any such additional Securities, "Additional Notes"). Any such Additional Notes, together with the Initial Notes, will constitute a single series of Securities under the Indenture; provided that if such Additional Notes are not fungible for United States federal income tax purposes, such Additional Notes will have a separate CUSIP number.

SECTION 2.2 Maturity.

The Maturity Date for the Notes is November 15, 2029.

SECTION 2.3 Form of Notes; Global Form.

(a) The Notes and the Trustee's certificate of authentication to be endorsed thereon shall be substantially in the form attached as Exhibit A hereto. The terms and provisions contained in the form of Notes set forth in Exhibit A shall constitute, and are hereby expressly made, a part of the Base Indenture as supplemented by this Second Supplemental Indenture. Provisions relating to the Notes are set forth in the Rule 144A/Regulation S Appendix hereto (the "Appendix"), which is hereby incorporated in and expressly made part of this Second Supplemental Indenture.

Any of the Notes may have such letters, numbers or other marks of identification and such notations, legends, endorsements or changes as the officers executing the same may approve (execution thereof to be conclusive evidence of such approval) and as are not inconsistent with the provisions of the Base Indenture as supplemented by this Second Supplemental Indenture, or as may be required by the Depositary or as may be required to comply with any applicable law or with any rule or regulation made pursuant thereto, or to conform to usage, or to indicate any special limitations or restrictions to which any particular Notes are subject.

(b) So long as any Notes are eligible for book-entry settlement with the Depositary, or unless otherwise required by law, or otherwise contemplated by Section 2.07 of the Base Indenture, all of the Notes shall be represented by one or more Securities in global form

registered in the name of the Depositary or the nominee of the Depositary (each and collectively, the "Global Note"), without coupons. The transfer and exchange of beneficial interests in any such Global Note shall be effected through the Depositary in accordance with the Indenture and the Applicable Procedures. Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, beneficial owners of a Global Note shall not be entitled to have certificates registered in their names, will not receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificates in definitive form and will not be considered Holders of such Global Note.

SECTION 2.4 Transfer and Exchange of Global Notes.

- (a) The Notes shall be transferable only in compliance with the Appendix. A Global Note may be transferred, in whole but not in part, only to another nominee of the Depositary, or to a successor Depositary selected or approved by the Company or to a nominee of such successor Depositary.
- (b) If at any time, (1) the Depositary notifies the Company that it is unwilling or unable to continue as Depositary or has ceased to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and, in each case, a successor depositary is not appointed, (2) the Company, at its option, notifies the Trustee in writing that it elects to cause the issuance of Notes in certificated form, or (3) there has occurred and is continuing an Event of Default with respect to the Notes, then the Company shall execute, and, subject to Article 2 of the Base Indenture, the Trustee, upon written notice from the Company, shall authenticate and make available for delivery the Notes in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Note in exchange for such Global Note and bearing transfer restriction legends when required by the Appendix. In such event the Company shall execute, and subject to Section 2.07 of the Base Indenture, the Trustee, upon receipt of an Officer's Certificate evidencing such determination by the Company, shall authenticate and deliver the Notes in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Note in exchange for such Global Note and bearing transfer restriction legends when required by the Appendix. Upon the exchange of the Global Note for such Notes in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, the Global Note shall be canceled by the Trustee. Such Notes in definitive registered form issued in exchange for the Global Note shall be registered in such names and in such authorized denominations as the Depositary, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, shall instruct the Trustee. The Trustee shall deliver such Notes to the Depositary for delivery to the Persons in whose names such Securities are so registered.

SECTION 2.5 Interest.

(a) Each Note shall bear interest at the rate of 4.625% per annum (the "<u>Coupon Rate</u>") from August 18, 2021 until the principal thereof becomes due and payable, and on any overdue principal and (to the extent that payment of such interest is enforceable under applicable law) on any overdue installment of interest at the Coupon Rate, compounded semi-annually, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year (each, an "<u>Interest Payment Date</u>"), beginning on November 15, 2021, to the Person in whose name such Note or any predecessor Note is registered at the close of business on the regular record date for such interest installment, whether or not a business day. The regular record dates shall be the May 1 and November 1 prior to the regular Interest Payment Date.

(b) The amount of interest payable for any period shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. Except as provided in the following sentence, the amount of interest payable for any period shorter than a full semi-annual period for which interest is computed shall be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in such a 30-day period. In the event that any date on which interest is payable on the Notes is not a business day, then payment of interest payable on such date shall be made on the next succeeding day which is a business day (and without any interest or other payment in respect of any such delay).

SECTION 2.6 Redemption.

(a) The Notes are redeemable at the option of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of Article 3 of the Base Indenture, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time (x) prior to November 15, 2024, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed *plus* the Applicable Premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of such Notes to be redeemed on the relevant record date to receive interest due on an interest payment date that is on or prior to such redemption date) or (y) on and after November 15, 2024, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed) set forth below, *plus* accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of such Notes to be redeemed on the relevant record date to receive interest due on an interest payment date that is on or prior to such redemption date), if redeemed beginning on November 15 of the years indicated below:

<u>Date</u>	Percentage
Date 2024	102.313%
2025	101.156%
2026 and thereafter	100.000%

In addition, prior to November 15, 2024, the Company may, at its option, on one or more occasions, redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes originally issued under the Indenture (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of Additional Notes) at a redemption price equal to 104.625% of the aggregate principal amount of such Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, to, but excluding, the redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of such Notes to be redeemed on the relevant record date to receive interest due on an interest payment date that is on or prior to such redemption date), with the net cash proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings; provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued under this Second Supplemental Indenture (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of Additional Notes) remains outstanding immediately after the occurrence of each such redemption; provided further that each such redemption occurs within 90 days of the date of closing of each such Equity Offering.

In connection with any tender offer for all of the outstanding Notes at a price of at least 100% of the principal amount of the Notes tendered, *plus* accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the applicable tender settlement date (including any Change of Control Offer), if holders of not less than 90% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes validly tender and do not withdraw such Notes in such tender offer and the Company, or any third party making such a tender offer in lieu of the Company, purchases all of the Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn by such holders, the Company or such third party will have the right, upon not less than 10 nor more than 60 days' prior notice, by first class mail to each holder of Notes, or by electronic delivery, given not more than 30 days following such purchase date, to redeem all Notes that remain outstanding following such purchase at a price equal to the price offered to each other holder in such tender offer plus, to the extent not included in the tender offer payment, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon, to, but excluding, the redemption date.

- (b) Notes with a principal amount of \$2,000 or less will be redeemed in whole and not in part. Notice of any redemption shall be given at least 10 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each Holder of the Notes to be redeemed. Unless the Company defaults in payment of the redemption price, on and after the redemption date, interest shall cease to accrue on the Notes or portions thereof called for redemption. If less than all of the Notes are to be redeemed, the Notes shall be selected by the Trustee on a *pro rata* basis or by lot to the extent practicable subject to its customary procedures or the applicable procedures of the Depositary, as the Trustee in its sole discretion deems to be fair and appropriate.
- (c) Prior to giving any notice of redemption in connection with a redemption pursuant to Section 2.6(a), the Company will deliver to the Trustee an Officer's Certificate signed by the Chief Financial Officer or a Senior Vice President of the Company stating that the Company is entitled to redeem the Notes and that the conditions precedent to redemption have occurred.
- (d) Any notice of redemption may be given prior to the completion of any event or transaction related to such redemption, including any offering or other corporate transaction, and any such redemption or notice may be subject to one or more conditions precedent, including the completion of the related offering or corporate transaction. In addition, if such redemption or notice is subject to satisfaction of one or more conditions precedent, such notice will state that the redemption date may be delayed until such time as any or all of such conditions have been satisfied, or such redemption may not occur and such notice may be rescinded in the event that any or all such conditions have not been satisfied by the redemption date, or by the redemption date so delayed.

SECTION 2.7 Offer to Purchase.

(a) Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Repurchase Event, unless the Company has exercised its right to redeem the Notes under Section 2.6(a), each Note holder will have the right to require the Company to purchase all or a portion of such holder's Notes pursuant to Section 2.7(b) (the "Change of Control Offer"), at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the holder's Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of purchase, subject to the rights of holders of Notes on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date.

- (b) Within 30 days following the date upon which the Change of Control Repurchase Event occurred, or at the Company's option, prior to any Change of Control but after the public announcement of the pending Change of Control, the Company will be required to send a notice, by first class mail to each Note holder, or by electronic delivery in the case of a Global Note, with a copy to the Trustee, which notice will govern the terms of the Change of Control Offer. Such notice will state, among other things, the purchase date, which must be no earlier than 10 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed, other than as may be required by law (the "Change of Control Payment Date"). The notice, if delivered prior to the date of consummation of the Change of Control, will state that the Change of Control Offer is conditioned on the Change of Control Repurchase Event occurring on or prior to the Change of Control Payment Date. Holders of Notes electing to have Notes purchased pursuant to a Change of Control Offer will be required to surrender their Notes, with the form entitled "Option of Holder to Elect Purchase" on the reverse of the Note completed, to the Paying Agent at the address specified in the notice, or transfer their Notes to the Paying Agent by book-entry transfer pursuant to the Applicable Procedures, prior to the close of business on the third business day prior to the Change of Control Payment Date.
- (c) The Company will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer if a third party makes such an offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements for such an offer made by the Company and such third party purchases all Notes properly tendered and not withdrawn under its offer.
- (d) If holders of not less than 90% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes tender and do not withdraw such Notes in a Change of Control Offer and the Company, or any third party making a Change of Control Offer in lieu of the Company pursuant to Section 2.7(c), purchases all of the Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn by such holders, the Company or such third party will have the right, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' prior notice, given not more than 30 days following such purchase pursuant to the Change of Control Offer described above, to redeem all Notes that remain outstanding following such purchase at a price in cash equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the date of redemption.
- (e) The Company will comply, to the extent applicable, with the requirements of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act and any other securities laws or regulations in connection with the repurchase of Notes as a result of a Change of Control Repurchase Event. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the provisions of this Section 2.7, the Company will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and shall not be deemed to have breached its obligations under this Section 2.7 by virtue of its compliance with such securities laws or regulations.
- (f) The provisions of this Section 2.7 relating to the Company's obligation to make an offer to repurchase the Notes as a result of a Change of Control Repurchase Event may be waived or modified with the written consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes then Outstanding.
 - (g) On the Change of Control Repurchase Event payment date, the Company shall, to the extent lawful:
- (i) accept for payment all Notes or portions of Notes (in a minimum principal amount of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof) properly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to the Company's offer;

- (ii) deposit with the Paying Agent an amount equal to the aggregate purchase price in respect of all Notes or portions of Notes properly tendered and not withdrawn; and
- (iii) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Trustee the Notes properly accepted, together with an Officer's Certificate stating the aggregate principal amount of Notes or portions of Notes being purchased by the Company.

The Paying Agent will promptly mail to each Holder of Notes properly tendered and not withdrawn the purchase price for such Notes, and the Trustee will promptly authenticate and mail (or cause to be transferred by book-entry) to each Holder a new Note equal in principal amount to any unpurchased portion of any such Notes surrendered; <u>provided</u> that each new Note will be in a minimum principal amount of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof.

SECTION 2.8 Ranking.

The Notes and the Subsidiary Guarantees shall be unsecured and will rank *pari passu* in right of payment with all of the existing and future unsecured unsubordinated obligations of the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors, as the case may be.

SECTION 2.9 Registrar and Paying Agent.

The Company hereby appoints U.S. Bank National Association as registrar and paying agent with respect to the Notes. The Company may appoint and change any paying agent or registrar without notice to the Holders. The Company or any of its Subsidiaries may act as paying agent or registrar.

ARTICLE 3

SUBSIDIARY GUARANTEES

SECTION 3.1 Subsidiary Guarantee.

(a) Each Subsidiary Guarantor hereby jointly and severally, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees (collectively, the "Subsidiary Guarantees"), as a primary obligor and not merely as a surety, to each Holder and the Trustee and their successors and assigns (i) the full and punctual payment when due, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, of all obligations of the Company under the Indenture (including obligations to the Trustee acting in any capacity under the Indenture) and the Notes, whether for payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes and all other monetary obligations of the Company under the Indenture and the Notes and (ii) the full and punctual performance within applicable grace periods of all other obligations of the Company whether for fees, expenses, indemnification or otherwise under the Indenture and the Notes, on the terms set forth in the Indenture by executing the Indenture (all the foregoing being hereinafter collectively called the "Guaranteed"

<u>Obligations</u>"). Each Subsidiary Guarantor further agrees that the Guaranteed Obligations may be extended or renewed, in whole or in part, without notice or further assent from each such Subsidiary Guarantor, and that such Subsidiary Guarantor shall remain bound under this Article 3 notwithstanding any extension or renewal of any Guaranteed Obligation.

- (b) Each Subsidiary Guarantor waives presentation to, demand of payment from and protest to the Company of any of the Guaranteed Obligations and also waives notice of protest for nonpayment. Each Subsidiary Guarantor waives notice of any Default under the Notes or the Guaranteed Obligations.
- (c) Each Subsidiary Guaranter further agrees that its Subsidiary Guarantee herein constitutes a guarantee of payment, performance and compliance when due (and not a guarantee of collection) and waives any right to require that any resort be had by any Holder or the Trustee to any security held for payment of the Guaranteed Obligations.
- (d) Except as expressly set forth in Section 3.2, the obligations of each Subsidiary Guarantor hereunder shall not be subject to any reduction, limitation, impairment or termination for any reason, including any claim of waiver, release, surrender, alteration or compromise, and shall not be subject to any defense of setoff, counterclaim, recoupment or termination whatsoever or by reason of the invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of the Guaranteed Obligations or otherwise.
- (e) Subject to Sections 3.2 and 3.3, each Subsidiary Guarantor agrees that its Subsidiary Guarantee shall remain in full force and effect until payment in full of all the Guaranteed Obligations. Each Subsidiary Guarantor further agrees that its Subsidiary Guarantee herein shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment of, or any part thereof, principal of or interest on any Guaranteed Obligation is rescinded or must otherwise be restored by any Holder or the Trustee upon the bankruptcy or reorganization of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise.
- (f) In furtherance of the foregoing and not in limitation of any other right which any Holder or the Trustee has at law or in equity against any Subsidiary Guarantor by virtue hereof, upon the failure of the Company to pay the principal of or interest on any Guaranteed Obligation when and as the same shall become due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, by redemption or otherwise, or to perform or comply with any other Guaranteed Obligation, each Subsidiary Guarantor hereby promises to and shall, upon receipt of written demand by the Trustee, forthwith pay, or cause to be paid, in cash, to the Trustee an amount equal to the sum of (i) the unpaid principal amount of such Guaranteed Obligations, (ii) accrued and unpaid interest on such Guaranteed Obligations (but only to the extent not prohibited by applicable law) and (iii) all other monetary obligations of the Company to the Trustee.
- (g) Each Subsidiary Guarantor agrees that it shall not be entitled to any right of subrogation in relation to the Trustee in respect of any Guaranteed Obligations guaranteed hereby until payment in full of all Guaranteed Obligations. Each Subsidiary Guarantor further agrees that, as between it, on the one hand, and the Trustee, on the other hand, (i) the maturity of the Guaranteed Obligations guaranteed hereby may be accelerated as provided in Section 5.1 hereof and Article 6 of the Base Indenture for the purposes of any Subsidiary Guarantee herein,

notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such acceleration in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations guaranteed hereby, and (ii) in the event of any declaration of acceleration of such Guaranteed Obligations as provided in Section 5.1 hereof and Article 6 of the Base Indenture, such Guaranteed Obligations (whether or not due and payable) shall forthwith become due and payable by such Subsidiary Guarantor for the purposes of this Section 3.1.

- (h) Each Subsidiary Guarantor also agrees to pay any and all fees, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) incurred by the Trustee or any Holder in enforcing any rights under this Section 3.1.
- (i) Each Subsidiary Guarantor shall promptly execute and deliver such further instruments and do such further acts as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry out more effectively the purpose of the Indenture.

SECTION 3.2 Limitation on Subsidiary Guarantor Liability.

Each Subsidiary Guarantor, and by its acceptance of Notes, each Holder, hereby confirms that it is the intention of all such parties that the Subsidiary Guarantee of such Subsidiary Guarantor not constitute a fraudulent transfer or conveyance for purposes of Bankruptcy Law, the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act, the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act or any similar federal or state law to the extent applicable to any Subsidiary Guarantee. To effectuate the foregoing intention, the Trustee, the Holders and the Subsidiary Guarantors hereby irrevocably agree that, any term or provision of the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the maximum aggregate amount of the Guaranteed Obligations guaranteed hereunder by any Subsidiary Guarantor shall not exceed the maximum amount that can be hereby guaranteed without rendering the Indenture, as it relates to such Subsidiary Guarantor, voidable under applicable law relating to fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. Each Subsidiary Guarantor that makes a payment under its Subsidiary Guarantee shall be entitled, upon payment in full of all Guaranteed Obligations under the Indenture, to a contribution from each other Subsidiary Guarantor in an amount equal to such other Subsidiary Guarantor's *pro rata* portion of such payment based on the respective net assets of all the Subsidiary Guarantors at the time of such payment, determined in accordance with GAAP.

SECTION 3.3 Releases.

A Subsidiary Guarantee as to any Subsidiary Guarantor shall be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged, without further action required on the part of the Subsidiary Guarantor, the Trustee or any Holder of Notes, upon:

(a) (i) the sale or other disposition of such Subsidiary Guarantor (including by way of merger or consolidation, the sale of its Capital Stock or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets) to a Person that is not (either before or after giving effect to such transaction) the Company or a Subsidiary, so long as such sale or other disposition does not violate Section 11.01(b) of the Base Indenture; (ii) the release or discharge of the guarantee by such Subsidiary Guarantor of Indebtedness under each Credit Facility to which it is a party, other than

a release or discharge through payment thereon, and such Subsidiary Guarantor is no longer an obligor under any Credit Facility; or (iii) the Company exercising its legal defeasance option or its covenant defeasance option with respect to the Notes under Section 14.02 of the Base Indenture or Section 6.1 or if its obligations under the Indenture with respect to the Notes are discharged in accordance with the terms of the Indenture; and

(b) such Subsidiary Guarantor delivering to the Trustee an Officer's Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all conditions provided for in the Indenture relating to such transaction have been complied with.

SECTION 3.4 Successors and Assigns.

This Article 3 shall be binding upon each Subsidiary Guarantor and its successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Trustee and the Holders and, in the event of any transfer or assignment of rights by any Holder or the Trustee, the rights and privileges conferred upon that party in the Indenture and in the Notes shall automatically extend to and be vested in such transferee or assignee, all subject to the terms and conditions of the Indenture.

SECTION 3.5 No Waiver.

Neither a failure nor a delay on the part of either the Trustee or the Holders in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Article 3 shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall a single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise of any right, power or privilege. The rights, remedies and benefits of the Trustee and the Holders herein expressly specified are cumulative and not exclusive of any other rights, remedies or benefits which either may have under this Article 3 at law, in equity, by statute or otherwise.

SECTION 3.6 Execution and Delivery of Subsidiary Guarantee.

The Company hereby agrees that it shall cause each Person that becomes obligated to provide a Subsidiary Guarantee pursuant to Section 3.9 to execute a supplemental indenture in substantially the form included in Exhibit B hereto, pursuant to which such Person provides the guarantee set forth in this Article 3 and otherwise assumes the obligations and accepts the rights of a Subsidiary Guarantor under the Indenture, in each case with the same effect and to the same extent as if such Person had been named herein as a Subsidiary Guarantor. The Company also hereby agrees to cause each such new Subsidiary Guarantor to evidence its guarantee by endorsing a notation of such Subsidiary Guarantee on each Note as provided in this Section 3.6.

SECTION 3.7 Non-Impairment.

The failure to endorse a Subsidiary Guarantee on any Notes shall not affect or impair the validity thereof.

SECTION 3.8 Benefits Acknowledged.

Each Subsidiary Guarantor acknowledges that it will receive direct and indirect benefits from the financing arrangements contemplated by the Indenture and that the Subsidiary Guarantee and waivers made by it pursuant to its Subsidiary Guarantee are knowingly made in contemplation of such benefits.

SECTION 3.9 Guarantees by Domestic Subsidiaries.

After the date of this Second Supplemental Indenture, the Company shall cause each direct and indirect Domestic Subsidiary that (a) incurs or guarantees any Indebtedness under the Credit Agreement, or (b) guarantees other Material Indebtedness, in each case, to become a Subsidiary Guarantor.

ARTICLE 4

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS

In addition to the covenants set forth in Articles 4, 5 and 11 of the Base Indenture, the Notes shall be subject to the additional covenants set forth in this Article 4.

SECTION 4.1 Limitation on Liens.

- (a) The Company will not, and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, incur or permit to exist any Lien (an "<u>Initial Lien</u>") of any nature whatsoever on any of its properties or assets (whether owned at the Issue Date or thereafter acquired) securing any Indebtedness for borrowed money, other than Permitted Liens, without effectively providing that the Notes (together with, at the option of the Company, any other Indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries ranking equally in right of payment with the Notes) shall be secured equally and ratably with (or prior to) the obligations so secured for so long as such obligations are so secured.
- (b) Notwithstanding Section 4.1(a), the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries may create, assume, incur or guarantee Indebtedness for borrowed money secured by a Lien without equally and ratably securing the Notes; <u>provided</u> that at the time of such creation, assumption, incurrence or guarantee, after giving effect thereto and to the retirement of any Indebtedness for borrowed money that is being retired substantially concurrently with any such creation, assumption, incurrence or guarantee, the sum of (a) the aggregate amount of all outstanding Indebtedness for borrowed money secured by Liens other than Permitted Liens, (b) the aggregate amount of all outstanding refinancing Indebtedness incurred pursuant to clause (7) of the definition of Permitted Liens in respect of Indebtedness for borrowed money initially incurred pursuant to this sentence and (c) the aggregate amount of all outstanding Indebtedness for borrowed money incurred pursuant to clause (12) of the definition of Permitted Liens, does not at such time exceed 15% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets.
- (c) Any such Lien thereby created in favor of the Notes will be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged upon (i) the release and discharge of each Initial Lien to which it relates, or (ii) any sale, exchange or transfer to any Person not an affiliate of the Company of the property or assets secured by such Initial Lien.

SECTION 4.2 Reports by the Company.

- (a) Notwithstanding that the Company may not be subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act or otherwise report on an annual and quarterly basis on forms provided for such annual and quarterly reporting pursuant to rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC, the Company shall furnish to the holders and the Trustee:
 - (1) within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year (or if such day is not a business day, on the next succeeding business day), all financial information that would be required to be contained in an annual report on Form 10-K, or any successor or comparable form, filed with the SEC, including a "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and a report on the annual financial statements by the Company's independent registered public accounting firm;
 - (2) within 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year (or if such day is not a business day, on the next succeeding business day), all financial information that would be required to be contained in a quarterly report on Form 10-Q, or any successor or comparable form, filed with the SEC, including a "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP applicable to interim financial statements; and
 - (3) within five business days after the occurrence of any of the following events, all current reports that would be required to be filed with the Commission on Form 8-K as in effect on the Issue Date; provided that the foregoing shall not obligate the Company to make available (i) any information regarding the occurrence of any of the following events if the Company determines in its reasonable determination that such event that would otherwise be required to be disclosed is not material to the securityholders or the business, assets, operations, financial positions or prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) an exhibit or a summary of the terms of, any employment or compensatory arrangement, agreement, plan or understanding between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and any director, officer or manager of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) copies of any agreements, financial statements or other items that would be required to be filed as exhibits to a current report on Form 8-K or (iv) any trade secrets, privileged or confidential information obtained from another Person and competitively sensitive information:
 - (a) the entry into or termination of material agreements;
 - (b) significant acquisitions or dispositions (which shall only be with respect to acquisitions or dispositions that are significant within the meaning of Item 2.01 of Form 8-K as in effect on the Issue Date);

- (c) bankruptcy;
- (d) the incurrence of a direct material financial obligation;
- (e) cross-default under direct material financial obligations;
- (f) a change in the Company's certifying independent auditor;
- (g) material charge for impairments;
- (h) the appointment or departure of directors or executive officers (with respect to the principal executive officer, president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and principal operating officer (or persons fulfilling similar duties) only);
- (i) change in fiscal year;
- (j) non-reliance on previously issued financial statements; and
- (k) change of control transactions,

in each case, in a manner that complies in all material respects with the requirements specified in such form, except as described above or below and subject to exceptions consistent with the presentation of information in the offering memorandum; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Company shall not be required to provide (i) separate financial statements or other information contemplated by Rules 3-05, 3-09, 3-10, 3-16 or 4-08 of Regulation S-X (or any successor provisions) or any schedules required by Regulation S-X, (ii) information required by Regulation G under the Exchange Act or Item 10(e), Item 302, Item 402 or Item 601 of Regulation S-K (or any successor provision), (iii) XBRL exhibits, and (iv) information regarding executive compensation and related party disclosure related to SEC Release Nos. 33-8732A, 34-54302A and IC-27444A. In addition, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company will not be required to (i) comply with Sections 302, 906 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or (ii) otherwise furnish any information, certificates or reports required by Items 307 or 308 of Regulation S-K (or any successor provision); <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that the foregoing deadlines shall be extended to the extent the Commission provides for any grace periods extensions, exemptions, orders or other forms of relief related to the filing deadlines applicable to a "non-accelerated filer," as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

(b) Substantially concurrently with the furnishing or making such information available to the Trustee pursuant to Section 4.2(a), the Company shall also use its commercially reasonable efforts to post copies of such information required by Section 4.2(a) on a website (which may be nonpublic and may be maintained by the Company or a third party) to which access will be given to securityholders, prospective investors in the Notes (which prospective investors shall be limited to "qualified institutional buyers" within the meaning of Rule 144A of

the Securities Act or non-U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) that certify their status as such to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company), and securities analysts and market making financial institutions that are reasonably satisfactory to the Company. The Company may condition the delivery of any such reports to such prospective investors in the Notes and securities analysts and market making financial institutions on the agreement of such Persons to (i) treat all such reports (and the information contained there) and information as confidential, (ii) not use such reports (and the information contained therein) and information for any purpose other than their investment or potential investment in the notes and (iii) not publicly disclose any such reports (and the information contained therein) and information.

- (c) To the extent any such information is not so filed or furnished, as applicable, within the time periods specified in this Section 4.2 and such information is subsequently filed or furnished, as applicable, the Company will be deemed to have satisfied its obligations with respect thereto at such time and any Event of Default with respect thereto shall be deemed to have been cured; <u>provided</u> that such cure shall not otherwise affect the rights of the securityholders under Section 5.1 if securityholders of at least 30% in aggregate principal amount of the then Outstanding Notes have declared the principal, premium, if any, interest and any other monetary obligations on all the then-outstanding notes to be due and payable immediately and such declaration shall not have been rescinded or cancelled prior to such cure.
- (d) In addition, to the extent not satisfied by the foregoing, the Company shall, for so long as any Notes are Outstanding, furnish to securityholders and prospective investors, upon their request, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.
- (e) The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with its judgment as to what is prudent at the time, to participate in quarterly conference calls (which may be a single conference call together with investors and lenders holding other securities or Indebtedness of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries) to discuss the Company's results of operations.
- (f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Indenture, if the Company has filed with the Commission the reports described in this Section 4.2 within the time periods prescribed by the SEC, including any related grace periods, extensions, exemptions or other relief provided for by the SEC, the Company shall be deemed to be in compliance with this Section 4.2.
- (g) Delivery of reports, information and documents to the Trustee under this Section 4.2 is for informational purposes only and its receipt of such reports shall not constitute actual or constructive notice of any information contained therein or determinable from information contained therein, including the Company's compliance with any of its covenants under the Indenture or the Notes (as to which the Trustee is entitled to rely exclusively on Officer's Certificates). The Trustee shall have no responsibility for the filing, timeliness or content of such reports. The Trustee shall not be obligated to monitor or confirm, on a continuing basis or otherwise, our compliance with the covenants or with respect to any reports or other documents filed with the Commission or EDGAR or website under the Indenture, or participate in any conference calls.

ARTICLE 5

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

SECTION 5.1 Events of Default.

Section 6.01 of the Base Indenture shall be superseded in its entirety by this Section 5.1 with respect to the Notes.

Each of the following is an "Event of Default" with respect to the Notes:

- (a) a default in the payment of interest on the Notes when due, continued for 30 days;
- (b) a default in the payment of principal of any Notes when due at its Stated Maturity, upon optional redemption, upon required purchase, upon declaration of acceleration or otherwise;
 - (c) the failure by the Company to comply with its obligations under Section 11.01 of the Base Indenture;
- (d) the failure by the Company to comply for 30 days after notice (as described below) with any of its obligations under Sections 2.7 (other than a failure to purchase Notes) or under Section 4.1;
- (e) the failure by the Company to comply for 60 days after notice (as described below) with its other agreements contained in the Indenture; <u>provided</u> that in the case of a failure by the Company to comply with any of its obligations in the covenants under Section 4.2, such period shall be 120 days after notice;
- (f) Indebtedness of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary is not paid within any applicable grace period after final maturity or is accelerated by the holders thereof because of a default and the total amount of such Indebtedness unpaid or accelerated exceeds \$100 million (the "cross acceleration provision");
- (g) (1) a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall enter a decree or order for relief in respect of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary in an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary or for any substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding-up or liquidation of its affairs and such decree or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for a period of 60 consecutive days; or (2) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or shall consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law, or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Company or such Significant Subsidiary or for any substantial part of its property, or shall make any general assignment for the benefit of creditors (the "bankruptcy default provisions");

- (h) any judgment or decree for the payment of money (net of any amount covered by insurance issued by a reputable and creditworthy insurer that has not contested coverage or reserved rights with respect to an underlying claim) in excess of \$100 million is entered against the Company or any Significant Subsidiary, remains outstanding for a period of 60 consecutive days after such judgment became final and non-appealable and is not paid, discharged, waived or stayed (the "judgment default provision"); or
- (i) any Subsidiary Guarantee ceases to be in full force and effect (other than in accordance with the terms of such Subsidiary Guarantee) or any Subsidiary Guarantee denies or disaffirms its obligations under its Subsidiary Guarantee.

In the case one or more Events of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in Section 5.1(g)) shall have occurred and be continuing with respect to the Notes, then, and in each and every such case, unless the principal amount of all the Notes shall have already become due and payable, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 30% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then Outstanding hereunder, by notice in writing to the Company (and to the Trustee if given by securityholders), may declare the principal amount of all the Notes (or, with respect to Original Issue Discount Securities, such lesser amount as may be specified in the terms of such Original Issue Discount Securities) to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become and shall be immediately due and payable, anything in the Indenture or in the Notes contained to the contrary notwithstanding, or, if an Event of Default described in Section 5.1(g) shall have occurred and be continuing, and in each and every such case, unless the principal of all the Notes shall have already become due and payable, the principal amount of all the Notes then Outstanding hereunder shall automatically, and without any declaration or other action on the part of the Trustee or any securityholder, become immediately due and payable, anything in the Indenture or in the Notes contained to the contrary notwithstanding. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5.1, a default under Sections 5.1(d) or (e) will not constitute an Event of Default until the Trustee or the holders of 30% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then Outstanding notify the Company of the default and the Company does not cure such default within the time specified after receipt of such notice.

ARTICLE 6

DEFEASANCE AND COVENANT DEFEASANCE

SECTION 6.1 Covenant Defeasance.

Section 14.03 of the Base Indenture is superseded in its entirety by this Section 6.1 with respect to, and solely for the benefit of the holders of, the Notes.

The Company may cause itself to be released from its obligations, and each Subsidiary Guarantor will be discharged from its obligations under the Subsidiary Guarantee, under

Sections 2.7, 3.9, 4.1, 4.2(a), 5.1(f) (the cross acceleration provision), 5.1(g) (solely with respect to the Significant Subsidiaries) (the bankruptcy default provision) and 5.1(h) (the judgment default provision) of the Base Indenture with respect to the Notes on and after the date the conditions precedent set forth below are satisfied but subject to satisfaction of the conditions subsequent set forth below (hereinafter, "covenant defeasance"). For this purpose, such covenant defeasance means that, with respect to the Notes, the Company may omit to comply with and shall have no liability, and each Subsidiary Guaranter shall have no liability with respect to the Subsidiary Guarantee, in respect of any term, condition or limitation set forth in any such Section, whether directly or indirectly by reason of any reference elsewhere herein to any such Section or by reason of any reference in any such Section to any other provision herein or in any other document, but the remainder of this Second Supplemental Indenture, the Base Indenture and the Notes shall be unaffected thereby.

ARTICLE 7

ORIGINAL ISSUE OF NOTES

SECTION 7.1 Original Issue of Notes.

Notes in the aggregate principal amount of up to \$650,000,000 may, upon execution of this Second Supplemental Indenture, be executed by the Company and delivered to the Trustee for authentication, and the Trustee shall thereupon authenticate and deliver said Notes to or upon the written order of the Company, signed by any Authorized Officer, as defined in the Indenture, without any further action by the Company.

ARTICLE 8

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 8.1 No Sinking Fund.

The Notes are not entitled to the benefit of any sinking fund.

SECTION 8.2 Ratification of Indenture.

The Base Indenture, as supplemented by this Second Supplemental Indenture, is in all respects ratified and confirmed, and this Second Supplemental Indenture shall be deemed part of the Base Indenture in the manner and to the extent herein and therein provided.

SECTION 8.3 Trustee Not Responsible for Recitals.

The recitals herein contained are made by the Company and not by the Trustee, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for the correctness thereof. The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity or sufficiency of this Second Supplemental Indenture.

SECTION 8.4 Governing Law.

This Second Supplemental Indenture and each Note shall be deemed to be a contract made under the internal laws of the State of New York, and for all purposes shall be construed in accordance with the laws of said State.

SECTION 8.5 Separability.

In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Second Supplemental Indenture or in the Notes shall for any reason be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Second Supplemental Indenture or of the Notes, but this Second Supplemental Indenture and the Notes shall be construed as if such invalid or illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein or therein.

SECTION 8.6 Reserved.

SECTION 8.7 Second Supplemental Indenture Governs.

This Second Supplemental Indenture is supplemental to the Base Indenture, and this Second Supplemental Indenture and the Base Indenture shall hereafter be read together with respect to the Notes. If any term or provision contained in this Second Supplemental Indenture shall conflict or be inconsistent with any term or provision of the Base Indenture, the terms and provisions of this Second Supplemental Indenture shall govern with respect to the Notes.

SECTION 8.8 Counterparts.

This Second Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which shall be an original; but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed by their authorized respective officers as of the day and year first above written.

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY, as Issuer

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By: /s/ Annette Marsula

Name: Annette Marsula Title: Vice President

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY FC, LLC CHEMFIRST INC.
FIRST CHEMICAL CORPORATION
FIRST CHEMICAL HOLDINGS, LLC
FIRST CHEMICAL TEXAS, L.P.
FT CHEMICAL, INC., as Subsidiary
Guarantors

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to the Second Supplemental Indenture]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES

Section 1.1 <u>Definitions</u>.

(a) <u>Definitions.</u>

For the purposes of this Appendix the following terms shall have the meanings indicated below:

"<u>Definitive Note</u>" means a certificated Initial Note or Additional Note bearing, if required, the appropriate restricted securities legend set forth in <u>Section 2.2(d)</u> of this Appendix.

"QIB" means a "qualified institutional buyer" as defined in Rule 144A.

"Resale Restriction Termination Date" means, in the case of Transfer Restricted Notes sold in reliance on Rule 144A, the expiration of the applicable holding period with respect to such Notes set forth in Rule 144(d)(i) of the Securities Act and, in the case of Transfer Restricted Notes sold in reliance on Regulation S, 40 days after the later of the original issue date of such Notes and the date on which such Notes (or Additional Notes) (or any predecessor of such Notes) were first offered to persons other than distributors (as defined in Rule 902 of Regulation S) in reliance on Regulation S.

"Transfer Restricted Notes" means Initial Notes or Additional Notes that bear or are required to bear the transfer restrictions legend set forth in $\underline{\text{Section 2.2(d)(i)}}$ hereof.

"Unrestricted Notes" means any Notes that are not Transfer Restricted Notes.

(b) Other Definitions.

<u>Term</u>	Defined in Section:
"Permanent Regulation S Global Note"	2.1(b)
"Regulation S"	2.1(a)
"Regulation S Global Note"	2.1(b)
"Restricted Global Note"	2.1(a)
"Restricted Period"	2.1(b)
" <u>Rule 144A</u> "	2.1(a)
"Rule 144A Global Note"	2.1(a)
"Temporary Regulation S Global Note"	2.1(a)

Section 2.1 The Notes.

(a) <u>Form and Dating</u>. Initial Notes offered and sold to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act ("<u>Rule 144A</u>") ("<u>Rule 144A Global Notes</u>") shall be issued initially in the form of one or more permanent Global Notes in definitive, fully registered form, and Notes offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S under the

Securities Act ("Regulation S") shall be issued initially in the form of one or more temporary Global Notes in fully registered form ("Temporary Regulation S Global Notes"), in each case, without interest coupons and with the Global Notes legend set forth in Exhibit A and the Transfer Restricted Notes legend set forth in Section 2.2(d) hereof (each security, unless and until becoming an Unrestricted Note, a "Restricted Global Note"), which shall be deposited on behalf of the holders of the Notes represented thereby with the Trustee, as custodian for the Depositary (or with such other custodian as the Depositary may direct), and registered in the name of the Depositary or a nominee of the Depositary, duly executed by the Company and authenticated by the Trustee as hereinafter provided. Additional Notes offered and sold to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A shall be issued initially in the form of one or more permanent Rule 144A Global Notes, and Additional Notes offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S shall be issued initially in the form of one or more Temporary Regulation S Global Notes or Permanent Regulation S Global Notes, in each case, without interest coupons and with the Global Notes legend set forth in Exhibit A and the Transfer Restricted Notes legend set forth in Section 2.2(d) hereof, which shall be deposited on behalf of the holders of the Notes represented thereby with the Trustee, as custodian for the Depositary (or with such other custodian as the Depositary may direct), and registered in the name of the Depositary or a nominee of the Depositary, duly executed by the Company and authenticated by the Trustee as hereinafter provided.

(b) <u>Book-Entry Provisions</u>. This <u>Section 2.1(b)</u> shall apply only to a Global Note deposited with or on behalf of the Depositary.

The Company shall execute and the Trustee shall, in accordance with this Section 2.1(b), authenticate and deliver initially one or more Global Notes that (a) shall be registered in the name of the Depositary for such Global Note or Global Notes or the nominee of such Depositary and (b) shall be delivered by the Trustee to such Depositary or pursuant to such Depositary's instructions or held by the Trustee as custodian for the Depositary. Separate Global Notes shall be issued to represent Rule 144A Global Notes and Regulation S Global Notes so long as required by law or the Depositary.

Except as set forth in this Section 2.1(b), beneficial interests in a Temporary Regulation S Global Note will not be exchangeable for interests in a Rule 144A Global Note, a permanent global note (the "Permanent Regulation S Global Note" and, together with the Temporary Regulation S Global Note, the "Regulation S Global Note") or any other Note prior to the expiration of the period through and including the 40th day after the later of the commencement of the offering of the Initial Note or Additional Note represented by such Temporary Regulation S Global Note and the closing of such offering (such period, the "Restricted Period") and then, after the expiration of the Restricted Period, may be exchanged for interests in a Rule 144A Global Note or the Permanent Regulation S Global Note only upon certification in form reasonably satisfactory to the Company and the Trustee that beneficial ownership interests in such Temporary Regulation S Global Note are owned either by non-U.S. persons or U.S. persons who purchased such interests in a transaction that did not require registration under the Securities Act.

Prior to the expiration of the Restricted Period, beneficial interests in a Temporary Regulation S Global Note may be exchanged for beneficial interests in the Rule 144A Global Note only if (i) such exchange occurs in connection with a transfer of the Notes pursuant to Rule 144A, (ii) the transferor first delivers to the Trustee a written certificate to the effect that the beneficial interest in the Temporary Regulation S Global Note is being transferred to a Person who the transferor reasonably believes to be a QIB and is purchasing for its own account or the account of a QIB, in each case in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A, and (iii) the transfer is in accordance with all applicable securities laws of the states of the United States and other jurisdictions. After the expiration of the Restricted Period, such certification requirements shall not apply to such transfers of beneficial interests in a Restricted Global Note representing Regulation S Global Notes.

Beneficial interests in a Rule 144A Global Note that is a Transfer Restricted Note may be transferred to a Person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in the Regulation S Global Note, whether before or after the expiration of the Restricted Period, only if the transferor first delivers to the Trustee a written certificate to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Rule 903 or 904 of Regulation S or Rule 144 (if available) and that, if such transfer occurs prior to the expiration of the Restricted Period, the interest transferred will be held immediately thereafter through Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear System, and Clearstream Banking, *société anonyme*, as operator of Clearstream.

The aggregate principal amount of the Global Notes may from time to time be increased or decreased by adjustments made on the records of the Trustee and the Depositary or its nominee as provided herein and in the Indenture.

(c) <u>Definitive Notes</u>. Except as provided in <u>Section 2.2</u> or <u>2.3</u> hereof, owners of beneficial interests in Restricted Global Notes shall not be entitled to receive Definitive Notes. Definitive Notes shall be exchangeable for beneficial interests in Global Notes only as provided in <u>Section 2.2</u> hereof.

Section 2.2 Transfer and Exchange

- (a) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Global Notes</u>. The transfer and exchange of Global Notes or beneficial interests therein shall be effected through the Depositary, in accordance with the Indenture (including applicable restrictions on transfer set forth herein, if any) and the procedures of the Depositary therefor. A transferor of a beneficial interest in a Global Note shall deliver to the Registrar a written order given in accordance with the Depositary's procedures containing information regarding the participant account of the Depositary to be credited with a beneficial interest in the Global Note. The Registrar shall, in accordance with such instructions, instruct the Depositary to credit to the account of the Person specified in such instructions a beneficial interest in the Global Note and to debit the account of the Person making the transfer the beneficial interest in the Global Note being transferred.
 - (i) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Appendix, a Global Note may not be transferred as a whole except by the Depositary to a nominee of the Depositary or by a nominee of the Depositary or another nominee of the Depositary or by the Depositary or any such nominee to a successor Depositary or a nominee of such successor Depositary.

- (ii) In the event that a Restricted Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Notes pursuant to <u>Section 2.3</u>, such Notes may be exchanged only in accordance with such procedures as are substantially consistent with the provisions of this <u>Section 2.2</u> (including the certification requirements set forth on the reverse of the Transfer Restricted Notes intended to ensure that such transfers comply with Rule 144A or Regulation S or another applicable exemption under the Securities Act, as the case may be) and such other procedures as may from time to time be adopted by the Company.
- (b) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes</u>. When Definitive Notes are presented to the Registrar with a request (x) to register the transfer of such Definitive Notes or (y) to exchange such Definitive Notes for an equal principal amount of Definitive Notes of other authorized denominations, the Registrar shall register the transfer or make the exchange as requested if its requirements for such transaction are met; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Definitive Notes surrendered for transfer or exchange:
 - (i) shall be duly endorsed or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form reasonably satisfactory to the Company and the Registrar, duly executed by the Holder thereof or its attorney duly authorized in writing; and
 - (ii) if such Definitive Notes are required to bear a Transfer Restricted Notes legend, they are being transferred or exchanged pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, pursuant to Section 2.2(c) hereof or pursuant to clause (A), (B) or (C) below, and are accompanied by the following additional information and documents, as applicable:
 - (A) if such Definitive Notes are being delivered to the Registrar by a Holder for registration in the name of such Holder, without transfer, a certification from such Holder to that effect; or
 - (B) if such Definitive Notes are being transferred to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, a certification to that effect; or
 - (C) if such Definitive Notes are being transferred (x) pursuant to an exemption from registration in accordance with Rule 144A, Regulation S or Rule 144 under the Securities Act; or (y) in reliance upon another exemption from the requirements of the Securities Act: (1) a certification to that effect and (2) if the Company so requests, an opinion of counsel or other evidence reasonably satisfactory to it as to the compliance with the restrictions set forth in the legend set forth in Section 2.2(d)(i) hereof.
- (c) Restrictions on Transfer of a Definitive Note for a Beneficial Interest in a Global Note. A Definitive Note may not be exchanged for a beneficial interest in a Rule 144A Global Note or a Permanent Regulation S Global Note except upon satisfaction of the requirements set forth below. Upon receipt by the Trustee of a

Definitive Note, duly endorsed or accompanied by appropriate instruments of transfer, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, together with:

- (i) certification that such Definitive Note is either (A) being transferred to a QIB in accordance with Rule 144A, or (B) being transferred after expiration of the Restricted Period by a Person who initially purchased such Note in reliance on Regulation S to a buyer who elects to hold its interest in such Note in the form of a beneficial interest in the Permanent Regulation S Global Note; and
- (ii) written instructions directing the Trustee to make, or directing the Custodian to make, an adjustment on its books and records with respect to such Rule 144A Global Note (in the case of a transfer pursuant to clause (c)(i)(A)) or Permanent Regulation S Global Note (in the case of a transfer pursuant to clause (c)(i)(B)) to reflect an increase in the aggregate principal amount of the Notes represented by the Rule 144A Global Note or Permanent Regulation S Global Note, as applicable, such instructions to contain information regarding the Depositary account to be credited with such increase,

then the Trustee shall cancel such Definitive Note and cause, or direct the Custodian to cause, in accordance with the standing instructions and procedures existing between the Depositary and the Custodian, the aggregate principal amount of Notes represented by the Rule 144A Global Note or Permanent Regulation S Global Note, as applicable, to be increased by the aggregate principal amount of the Definitive Note to be exchanged and shall credit or cause to be credited to the account of the Person specified in such instructions a beneficial interest in the Rule 144A Global Note or Permanent Regulation S Global Note, as applicable, equal to the principal amount of the Definitive Note so canceled. If no Rule 144A Global Notes or Permanent Regulation S Global Notes, as applicable, are then outstanding, the Company shall issue and the Trustee shall authenticate, upon receipt of a Company Order, a new Rule 144A Global Note or Permanent Regulation S Global Note, as applicable, in the appropriate principal amount.

(d) Legend.

(i) Except as permitted by the following subclauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), each Note certificate evidencing the Restricted Global Notes (and all Notes issued in exchange therefor or in substitution thereof) shall bear a legend in substantially the following form:

THIS OFFER AND SALE OF THIS SECURITY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), AND THIS SECURITY MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE. BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF OR OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN, THE ACQUIRER: (1) REPRESENTS THAT IT AND ANY ACCOUNT FOR WHICH IT IS ACTING IS A "QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER" (WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) AND THAT IT EXERCISES SOLE INVESTMENT DISCRETION WITH RESPECT TO EACH SUCH ACCOUNT, AND (2) AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE CHEMOURS COMPANY (THE "COMPANY") THAT IT WILL NOT OFFER, SELL, PLEDGE OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THIS

SECURITY OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN PRIOR TO THE DATE THAT IS [IN THE CASE OF RULE144A NOTES: ONE YEAR AFTER THE LATER OF THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE HEREOF, THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE OF THE ISSUANCE OF ANY ADDITIONAL NOTES AND THE LAST DATE ON WHICH THE COMPANY OR ANY AFFILIATE OF THE COMPANY WERE THE OWNER OF THIS SECURITY (OR ANY PREDECESSOR OF SUCH SECURITY)][IN THE CASE OF REGULATION S NOTES: 40 DAYS AFTER THE LATER OF THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE HEREOF, THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE OF THE ISSUANCE OF ANY ADDITIONAL NOTES AND THE DATE ON WHICH THIS SECURITY (OR ANY PREDECESSOR OF SUCH SECURITY) WAS FIRST OFFERED TO PERSONS OTHER THAN DISTRIBUTORS (AS DEFINED IN RULE 902 OF REGULATION S) IN RELIANCE ON REGULATION S], EXCEPT: (A) TO THE COMPANY OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF, OR (B) PURSUANT TO A REGISTRATION STATEMENT WHICH HAS BECOME EFFECTIVE UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (C) TO A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (D) PURSUANT TO OFFERS AND SALES THAT OCCUR OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES WITHIN THE MEANING OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (E) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 OR ANY OTHER AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT. PRIOR TO THE REGISTRATION OF ANY TRANSFER IN ACCORDANCE WITH CLAUSE (2)(D) OR (2)(E) ABOVE, THE COMPANY AND THE TRUSTEE RESERVE THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE THE DELIVERY OF SUCH LEGAL OPINIONS, CERTIFICATIONS OR OTHER EVIDENCE AS MAY REASONABLY BE REQUIRED IN ORDER TO DETERMINE THAT THE PROPOSED TRANSFER IS BEING MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF ANY EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT. [IN THE CASE OF REGULATION S NOTES: BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF, THE HOLDER HEREOF REPRESENTS THAT IT IS NOT A U.S. PERSON NOR IS IT PURCHASING FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A U.S. PERSON AND IS ACQUIRING THIS SECURITY IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.]

Each Definitive Note shall also bear the following additional legend:

IN CONNECTION WITH ANY TRANSFER, THE HOLDER WILL DELIVER TO THE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT SUCH CERTIFICATES AND OTHER INFORMATION AS SUCH TRANSFER AGENT MAY REASONABLY REQUIRE TO CONFIRM THAT THE TRANSFER COMPLIES WITH THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS.

Each Temporary Regulation S Global Note shall also bear the following legend:

THE RIGHTS ATTACHING TO THIS TEMPORARY REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE, AND THE CONDITIONS AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING (I) THE EXCHANGE OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN THIS TEMPORARY REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE FOR INTERESTS IN THE PERMANENT REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE OR RULE 144A GLOBAL NOTE AND (II) THE TRANSFER OF INTERESTS IN THIS TEMPORARY REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE, ARE AS SPECIFIED IN THE INDENTURE REFERRED TO ON THE REVERSE HEREOF.

(ii) The Company, acting in its discretion, may remove the Transfer Restricted Notes legend set forth in clause (d) (i) above from any Transfer Restricted Note at any time on or after the Resale Restriction Termination Date applicable to such Transfer Restricted Note. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, the Company may effect such removal by issuing and delivering, in exchange for such Transfer Restricted Note, an Unrestricted Note without such legend, registered to the same Holder and in an equal principal amount, and upon receipt by the Trustee of a Company Order stating that the Resale Restriction Termination Date applicable to such Transfer Restricted Note has occurred and requesting the authentication and delivery of an Unrestricted Note in exchange therefor given at least three Business Days in advance of the proposed date of exchange specified therein (which shall be no earlier than such Resale Restriction Termination Date), the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver such Unrestricted Note to the Depositary or pursuant to such Depositary's instructions or hold such Note as Custodian and shall request the Depositary to, or, if the Trustee is custodian of such Transfer Restricted Note, shall itself, surrender such Transfer Restricted Note in exchange for such Unrestricted Note without such legend and thereupon cancel such Transfer Restricted Note so surrendered, all as directed in such order.

For purposes of this <u>Section 2.2(d)(ii)</u>, all provisions relating to the removal of the legend set forth in clause (d)(i) above shall relate, if the Resale Restriction Termination Date has occurred only with respect to a portion of the Notes evidenced by a Transfer Restricted Note, to such portion of the Notes so evidenced as to which the Resale Restriction Termination Date has occurred.

Each holder of any Notes evidenced by any Restricted Global Note, by its acceptance thereof, (A) authorizes and consents to, (B) appoints the Company as its agent for the sole purpose of delivering such electronic messages, executing and delivering such instruments and taking such other actions, on such holder's behalf, as the Depositary or the Trustee may require to effect, and (C) upon the request of the Company, agrees to deliver such electronic messages, execute and deliver such instruments and take such other actions as the Depositary or the Trustee may require, or as shall otherwise be necessary to effect, the removal of the legend set forth in Section 2.2(d)(i) hereof (including by means of the exchange of all or the portion of such Restricted Global Note evidencing such Note for a certificate evidencing such Note that does not bear such legend) at any time after the Resale Restriction Termination Date.

(iii) Upon any sale or transfer of a Transfer Restricted Note pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act, the Registrar shall permit the transferee thereof to exchange such Transfer Restricted Note for a Note that does not bear the legend set forth in clause (d)(i) above and rescind any restriction on the transfer of such Transfer Restricted Note, if the transferor thereof certifies in writing to the Registrar that, and if the Company or the Trustee so request, delivers an opinion of counsel to the effect that, such sale or transfer was made in reliance on Rule 144 (such certification to be in the form set forth on the reverse of the Note).

- (e) <u>Restrictions on Transfer of Temporary Regulation S Global Notes</u>. During the Restricted Period, beneficial ownership interests in Temporary Regulation S Global Notes may only be sold, pledged or transferred in accordance with the Applicable Procedures and only (i) to the Company, (ii) in an offshore transaction in accordance with Regulation S (other than a transaction resulting in an exchange for an interest in a Permanent Regulation S Global Note) or (iii) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States.
- (f) <u>Cancellation or Adjustment of Global Note</u>. At such time as all beneficial interests in a Global Note have either been exchanged for Definitive Notes, redeemed, purchased or canceled, such Global Note shall be returned to the Company for cancellation or retained and canceled by the Trustee. At any time prior to such cancellation, if any beneficial interest in a Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Notes, redeemed, purchased or canceled, the principal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note shall be reduced and an adjustment shall be made on the books and records of the Trustee (if it is then the Custodian for such Global Note) with respect to such Global Note, by the Trustee or the Custodian, to reflect such reduction.
- (g) No Obligation of the Trustee. The Trustee shall have no obligation or duty to monitor, determine or inquire as to compliance with any restrictions on transfer imposed under the Indenture or under applicable law with respect to any transfer of any interest in any Note (including any transfers between or among Depositary participants, members or beneficial owners in any Global Note) other than to require delivery of such certificates and other documentation or evidence as are expressly required by, and to do so if and when expressly required by, the terms of the Indenture, and to examine the same to determine substantial compliance as to form with the express requirements hereof.

Section 2.3 <u>Definitive Notes</u>.

- (a) A Global Note deposited with the Depositary or with the Trustee as custodian for the Depositary pursuant to <u>Section 2.1</u> hereof shall be transferred to the beneficial owners thereof in the form of Definitive Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of such Global Note, in exchange for such Global Note, only in the circumstances described in <u>Section 2.4</u> of the Second Supplemental Indenture and only if such transfer complies with <u>Section 2.2</u> hereof.
- (b) Any Global Note that is transferable to the beneficial owners thereof pursuant to this Section 2.3 shall be surrendered by the Depositary or the Custodian located at its Corporate Trust Office to be so transferred, in whole or from time to time in part, without charge, and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, upon such transfer of each portion of such Global Note, an equal aggregate principal amount of Definitive Notes of authorized denominations. Any portion of a Global Note transferred pursuant to this Section 2.3 shall be executed, authenticated and delivered only in denominations equal to \$2,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000 in excess thereof, and registered in such

names as the Depositary shall direct. Any Definitive Note delivered in exchange for an interest in a Global Note shall, except as otherwise provided by <u>Section 2.2</u> hereof, bear the Transfer Restricted Notes legend and Definitive Notes legend.

(c) In no event shall beneficial interests in the Temporary Regulation S Global Note be transferred or exchanged for Definitive Notes prior to (x) the expiration of the Restricted Period and (y) the receipt by the Registrar of any certificates required pursuant to Rule 903(b)(3)(ii)(B) of Regulation S under the Securities Act.

[Form of Face of Note]

[UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK CORPORATION ("DTC"), NEW YORK, NEW YORK, TO THE COMPANY OR ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO., OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC) ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

TRANSFERS OF THIS GLOBAL NOTE SHALL BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS IN WHOLE, BUT NOT IN PART, TO NOMINEES OF DTC OR TO A SUCCESSOR THEREOF OR SUCH SUCCESSOR'S NOMINEE AND TRANSFERS OF PORTIONS OF THIS GLOBAL NOTE SHALL BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH IN THE INDENTURE REFERRED TO ON THE REVERSE HEREOF.]1

[Transfer Restricted Note Legend]

THIS OFFER AND SALE OF THIS SECURITY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), AND THIS SECURITY MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE. BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF OR OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN, THE ACQUIRER: (1) REPRESENTS THAT IT AND ANY ACCOUNT FOR WHICH IT IS ACTING IS A "QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER" (WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) AND THAT IT EXERCISES SOLE INVESTMENT DISCRETION WITH RESPECT TO EACH SUCH ACCOUNT, AND (2) AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE CHEMOURS COMPANY (THE "COMPANY") THAT IT WILL NOT OFFER, SELL, PLEDGE OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THIS SECURITY OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN PRIOR TO THE DATE THAT IS [IN THE CASE OF RULE144A NOTES: ONE YEAR AFTER THE LATER OF THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE HEREOF, THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE OF THE ISSUANCE OF ANY ADDITIONAL NOTES AND THE LAST DATE ON WHICH THE COMPANY OR ANY AFFILIATE OF THE COMPANY WERE THE OWNER OF THIS SECURITY (OR ANY PREDECESSOR OF SUCH SECURITY)][IN THE CASE OF REGULATION S NOTES: 40 DAYS AFTER THE LATER OF THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE HEREOF, THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE OF ANY ADDITIONAL NOTES AND THE DATE ON WHICH THIS SECURITY (OR ANY PREDECESSOR OF SUCH SECURITY) WAS FIRST OFFERED TO PERSONS OTHER THAN DISTRIBUTORS (AS DEFINED IN RULE 902 OF REGULATION S) IN RELIANCE ON REGULATION S], EXCEPT: (A) TO

Note: To be included in a Global Note.

THE COMPANY OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF, OR (B) PURSUANT TO A REGISTRATION STATEMENT WHICH HAS BECOME EFFECTIVE UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (C) TO A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (D) PURSUANT TO OFFERS AND SALES THAT OCCUR OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES WITHIN THE MEANING OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (E) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 OR ANY OTHER AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT. PRIOR TO THE REGISTRATION OF ANY TRANSFER IN ACCORDANCE WITH CLAUSE (2)(D) OR (2)(E) ABOVE, THE COMPANY AND THE TRUSTEE RESERVE THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE THE DELIVERY OF SUCH LEGAL OPINIONS, CERTIFICATIONS OR OTHER EVIDENCE AS MAY REASONABLY BE REQUIRED IN ORDER TO DETERMINE THAT THE PROPOSED TRANSFER IS BEING MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF ANY EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT. [IN THE CASE OF REGULATION S NOTES: BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF, THE HOLDER HEREOF REPRESENTS THAT IT IS NOT A U.S. PERSON NOR IS IT PURCHASING FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A U.S. PERSON AND IS ACQUIRING THIS SECURITY IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.]

[Definitive Note Legend]

IN CONNECTION WITH ANY TRANSFER, THE HOLDER WILL DELIVER TO THE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT SUCH CERTIFICATES AND OTHER INFORMATION AS SUCH TRANSFER AGENT MAY REASONABLY REQUIRE TO CONFIRM THAT THE TRANSFER COMPLIES WITH THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS.

[Temporary Regulation S Global Note Legend]

THE RIGHTS ATTACHING TO THIS TEMPORARY REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE, AND THE CONDITIONS AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING (I) THE EXCHANGE OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN THIS TEMPORARY REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE FOR INTERESTS IN THE PERMANENT REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE OR RULE 144A GLOBAL NOTE AND (II) THE TRANSFER OF INTERESTS IN THIS TEMPORARY REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE, ARE AS SPECIFIED IN THE INDENTURE REFERRED TO ON THE REVERSE HEREOF.

		\$[
NUMBER []	CUSIP No. [
		ISIN No. [

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY 4.625% SENIOR NOTE DUE 2029

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY, a Delaware corporation (herein called the "<u>Company</u>," which term includes any successor corporation under the Indenture referred to on the reverse hereof), for value received, hereby promises to pay to Cede & Co. or its registered assigns, the principal sum of DOLLARS on November 15, 2029 (except to the extent redeemed or repaid prior to that date). The Company shall pay interest on such principal amount at the rate of 4.625% per annum, until payment of such principal amount has been made or duly provided for, semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year (each, an "<u>Interest Payment Date</u>"). Interest shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date, commencing on November 15, 2021, and at the stated maturity or earlier redemption or repayment (the "<u>Maturity Date</u>"). If the Company shall default in the payment of interest due on any Interest Payment Date, then this Note shall bear interest from the next preceding Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid, or, if no interest has been paid on this Note, from August 18, 2021 (the "<u>Original Issue Date</u>").

Interest on this Note shall accrue from the Original Issue Date until the principal amount is paid or duly provided for. Interest (including payments for partial periods) shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. Interest payable on this Note on any Interest Payment Date or the Maturity Date shall include interest accrued from, and including, the preceding Interest Payment Date in respect of which interest has been paid or duly provided for (or from, and including, the Original Issue Date, if no interest has been paid or duly provided for) to, but excluding, such Interest Payment Date or the Maturity Date, as the case may be. If the Maturity Date or any Interest Payment Date falls on a day which is not a Business Day (as defined below), principal of or interest payable with respect to the Maturity Date or such Interest Payment Date shall be paid on the succeeding Business Day, and no additional interest shall accrue as a result of that postponement. The interest so payable, and punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment Date shall be paid to the person in whose name this Note (or one or more predecessor Notes evidencing all or a portion of the same debt as this Note) is registered at the close of business on the regular record date for such Interest Payment Date, whether or not a Business Day. The regular record date shall be the close of business on May 1 and November 1 preceding an Interest Payment Date. "Business Day." means any weekday that is not a legal holiday in New York, New York or Wilmington, Delaware and that is not a day on which banking institutions in those cities are authorized or required by law or regulation to be closed.

The principal of and interest on this Note are payable in immediately available funds in such coin or currency of the United States as at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts, at the office or agency of the Company designated as provided in the Indenture. However, interest may be paid, at the option of the Company, by check mailed to the person entitled thereto at his address last appearing on the registry books of the Company relating to the Notes. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, payments of principal of and interest payable on the Maturity Date shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to a designated account maintained in the United States upon (i) receipt of written notice by the Paying Agent (as described on the reverse hereof) from the registered holder hereof not less than one Business Day prior to the due date of such principal and (ii) presentation of this Note to the Paying Agent, at U.S. Bank National Association, Corporate Trust Services, 333 Thornall Street, 4th Floor, Edison, New Jersey 08837. Any interest not punctually paid or duly provided for shall be payable as provided in such Indenture.

References herein to "U.S. dollars," "U.S.\$," or "\$" are to the coin or currency of the United States as at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

Reference is made to the further provisions of this Note set forth on the reverse hereof, which shall have the same effect as though fully set forth at this place.

Unless the certificate of authentication hereon has been executed by the Trustee (as described on the reverse hereof) or by an authenticating agent on behalf of the Trustee by manual signature, this Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under such Indenture or be valid or obligatory for any purpose.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this instrument to be duly executed.

THE CHEMOLIES COM	DA NIXZ

By:			
	Name:		
	Title:		

TRUSTEE'S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This is one of the Securities of the series designated therein referred to in the within-mentioned Indenture.

Dated:	
	U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee
	by
	Authorized Signatory

(REVERSE OF NOTE)

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY

4.625% SENIOR NOTE DUE 2029

SECTION 1. <u>General</u>. This Note is one of a duly authorized series of Securities of the Company unlimited in aggregate principal amount (herein called the "<u>Notes</u>") issued and to be issued under an Indenture dated as of November 27, 2020 (herein called the "<u>Base Indenture</u>"), between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (herein called the "Trustee," which term includes any successor trustee under the Indenture), as supplemented by the Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 18, 2021 (the "<u>Second Supplemental Indenture</u>" and, together with the Base Indenture, the "<u>Indenture</u>"), to which Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto reference is hereby made for a statement of the respective rights thereunder of the Company, the Trustee, and the holders of the Notes, and the terms upon which the Notes are, and are to be, authenticated and delivered. To the extent any provision of this Note conflicts with the express provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall govern and be controlling. All terms used in this Note and that are not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to those terms in the Indenture. The series of which this Note is a part also is designated as the Company's 4.625% Senior Notes due 2029, initially in the principal amount of \$650,000,000. The Trustee initially shall act as Security Registrar, Transfer Agent and Paying Agent in connection with the Notes.

SECTION 2. No Sinking Fund. This Note is not entitled to the benefit of any sinking fund.

SECTION 3. Redemption and Repayment. (a) The Notes are redeemable at the option of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of Article 3 of the Base Indenture, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time (x) prior to November 15, 2024, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed *plus* the Applicable Premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of such Notes to be redeemed on the relevant record date to receive interest due on an interest payment date that is on or prior to such redemption date) or (y) on and after November 15, 2024, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed) set forth below, *plus* accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of such Notes to be redeemed on the relevant record date to receive interest due on an interest payment date that is on or prior to such redemption date), if redeemed beginning on November 15 of the years indicated below:

<u>Date</u> 2024	Percentage
2024	102.313%
2025	101.156%
2026 and thereafter	100.000%

In addition, prior to November 15, 2024, the Company may, at its option, on one or more occasions, redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes originally issued under the Indenture (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of Additional Notes) at a redemption price equal to 104.625% of the aggregate principal amount of such Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, to, but excluding, the redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of such Notes to be redeemed on the relevant record date to receive interest due on an interest payment date that is on or prior to such redemption date), with the net cash proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings; provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued under this Second Supplemental Indenture (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of Additional Notes) remains outstanding immediately after the occurrence of each such redemption; provided further that each such redemption occurs within 90 days of the date of closing of each such Equity Offering.

In connection with any tender offer for all of the outstanding Notes at a price of at least 100% of the principal amount of the Notes tendered, *plus* accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the applicable tender settlement date (including any Change of Control Offer), if holders of not less than 90% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes validly tender and do not withdraw such Notes in such tender offer and the Company, or any third party making such a tender offer in lieu of the Company, purchases all of the Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn by such holders, the Company or such third party will have the right, upon not less than 10 nor more than 60 days' prior notice, by first class mail to each holder of Notes, or by electronic delivery, given not more than 30 days following such purchase date, to redeem all Notes that remain outstanding following such purchase at a price equal to the price offered to each other holder in such tender offer plus, to the extent not included in the tender offer payment, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon, to, but excluding, the redemption date.

SECTION 4. <u>Defeasance</u>. The provisions of Article 6 of the Second Supplemental Indenture and Article 14 of the Base Indenture apply to this Note.

SECTION 5. Events of Default. If an Event of Default (as defined in the Second Supplemental Indenture) shall occur with respect to this Note, the principal of all the Notes may be declared due and payable, or may become automatically due and payable without any action by the holder of this Note or the Trustee, in each case in the manner and with the effect provided in the Indenture.

SECTION 6. Modifications and Waivers. The Indenture permits, with certain exceptions as therein provided, the amendment thereof and the modification of the rights and obligations of the Company and the rights of the holders of this Note under the Indenture at any time by the Company with the consent of the holders of not less than a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then Outstanding and affected by such amendment and modification. The Indenture also contains provisions permitting the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding on behalf of the holders of all such Notes to waive compliance by the Company with certain provisions of the Indenture and certain past defaults under the Indenture and their consequences. Any such consent or waiver by the holder of this Note shall be conclusive

and binding upon such holder and upon all future holders of this Note and of any Note issued upon the registration of transfer hereof or in exchange herefor or in lieu hereof whether or not notation of such consent or waiver is made upon this Note.

No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or the interest on this Note, or for any claim based hereon, or otherwise in respect hereof, or based on or in respect of the Indenture or any indenture supplemental thereto, against any incorporator, stockholder, officer, or director, as such, past, present, or future, of the Company or any predecessor or successor corporation, whether by virtue of any constitution, statute, or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable proceeding or otherwise, all such liability being, by the acceptance hereof and as part of the consideration for issue hereof, expressly waived and released.

SECTION 7. <u>Obligations Unconditional</u>. No reference herein to the Indenture and no provision of this Note or of the Indenture shall alter or impair the obligation of the Company, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of and interest on this Note at the times, place, and rate, and in the coin or currency, herein prescribed.

SECTION 8. <u>Authorized Denominations</u>. The Notes are issuable only as registered Notes without coupons in the minimum denominations of Two Thousand Dollars (\$2,000) and any whole multiples of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000). As provided in the Indenture, and subject to certain limitations therein set forth, the Notes are exchangeable for a like aggregate principal amount of Notes of different authorized denominations, as requested by the holder surrendering the same.

SECTION 9. Registration of Transfer. As provided in the Indenture and subject to certain limitations therein set forth, the transfer of this Note may be registered on the Security Register or registry of the Company relating to the Notes, upon surrender of this Note for registration of transfer at the office or agency of the Company designated by it pursuant to the Indenture, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Company and the Trustee or the Security Registrar duly executed by, the registered holder hereof or his attorney duly authorized in writing, and thereupon one or more new Notes, of authorized denominations and for the same aggregate principal amount, shall be issued to the designated transferee or transferees.

The Notes are being issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical distribution of certificates to be made except as provided in the Indenture. The book-entry system maintained by DTC shall evidence ownership of the Notes, with transfers of ownership effected on the records of DTC and its participants pursuant to rules and procedures established by DTC and its participants. The Company shall recognize Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, while the registered holder of the Notes, as the owner of the Notes for all purposes, including payment of principal, premium (if any) and interest, notices, and voting. Transfer of the principal, premium (if any), and interest to beneficial owners of the Notes by participants of DTC shall be the responsibility of such participants and other nominees of such beneficial owners. So long as the book-entry system is in effect, the selection of any Notes to be redeemed shall be determined by

DTC pursuant to rules and procedures established by DTC and its participants. The Company shall not be responsible or liable for such transfers or payments or for maintaining, supervising, or reviewing the records maintained by DTC, its participants, or persons acting through such participants.

No service charge shall be made for any such registration of transfer or exchange, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, assessment, or other governmental charge, including, without limitation, any withholding tax, payable in connection therewith.

Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer of this Note, the Company, the Trustee, the Paying Agent, and any agent of the Company may treat the person in whose name this Note is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment as herein provided and for all other purposes, whether or not this Note be overdue, and none of the Company, the Trustee, the Paying Agent or any such agent of the Company shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

SECTION 10. Authentication Date. The Notes of this Series shall be dated the date of their authentication.

SECTION 11. <u>Defined Terms</u>. All terms used in this Note which are not defined herein, but are defined in the Indenture, shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture.

SECTION 12. Governing Law. THIS NOTE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

ASSIGNMENT FORM
To assign this Note, fill in the form below:
(I) or (we) assign and transfer this Note to
(Insert assignee's legal name)
(Insert assignee's soc. sec. or tax I.D. no.)
(Print or type assignee's name, address and zip code)
and irrevocably appoint to transfer this Note on the books of the Company. The agent may substitute another to act for him or her.
Date:
Your Signature:
(Sign exactly as your name appears on the face of this Note)
Signature Guarantee*:
[Include the following only if the Transfer Restricted Notes legend is included hereon]
In connection with any transfer of any of the Notes evidenced by this certificate occurring prior to the expiration of the applicable holding period with respect to the Notes set forth in Rule 144(d)(i) of the Securities Act (or, in the case of Regulation S Notes, prior to the expiration of the Restricted Period), the undersigned confirms that such Notes are being transferred in accordance with their terms:
CHECK ONE BOX BELOW
(1) \Box to the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company; or

* Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).

(2)		pursuant to a registration statement that has been declared effective under the Securities Act of 1933; or
(3)		for so long as the Notes are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144A, to a person who the undersigned reasonably believes is a "qualified institutional buyer" (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933) that is purchasing for its own account or for the account of a qualified institutional buyer to whom notice is given that such transfer is being made in reliance on Rule 144A, in each case pursuant to and in compliance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933; or
(4)		pursuant to offers and sales to non-U.S. persons that occur outside the United States within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act in compliance with Rule 904 under the Securities Act of 1933; or
(5)		pursuant to another exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 (other than Regulation S under the Securities Act of 1933).
the regi	regis steri onal	one of the boxes is checked, the Trustee will refuse to register any of the Notes evidenced by this certificate in the name of any person other than stered holder thereof; <u>provided</u> , <u>however</u> , that if box (4) or (5) is checked, the Company and the Trustee shall be entitled to require, prior to ng any such transfer of the Notes, such legal opinions, certifications and other information as each of the Company and the Trustee has oly requested to confirm that such transfer is being made pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration nents of the Securities Act of 1933.
Sign	natur	re

TO BE COMPLETE	ED BY PURCH	ASER IF (3) A	BOVE IS CHECKED.

The undersigned represents and warrants that it is purchasing this Note for its own account or an account with respect to which it exercises sole investment discretion and that it and any such account is a "qualified institutional buyer" within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, and is aware that the sale to it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A and acknowledges that it has received such information regarding the Company and any Subsidiary Guarantors as the undersigned has requested pursuant to Rule 144A or has determined not to request such information and that it is aware that the transferor is relying upon the undersigned's foregoing representations in order to claim the exemption from registration provided by Rule 144A.

Dated:	
	Notice: To be executed by an executive officer
A-11	

Option of Holder to Elect Purchase			
If you want to elect to have this Note purchased by the Company pursuant to Section 2.7 of the Second Supplemental Indenture, check the box below:			
□ Section 2.7			
If you want to elect to have only part of the Note purchased by the Company pursuant to Section 2.7 of the Second Supplemental Indenture, state the amount you elect to have purchased:			
\$			
Date:			
Your Signature:			
(Sign exactly as your name appears on the face of this Note)			
Tax Identification No.:			
Signature Guarantee*:			

A-12

* Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).

SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF INTERESTS IN THE GLOBAL NOTE*

The following exchanges of a part of this Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or for a Definitive Note, or exchanges of a part of another Global Note or Definitive Note for an interest in this Global Note, have been made:

			Principal	
		Amount of	Amount of	
	Amount of	increase in	this Global	Signature of
	decrease in	Principal	Note	authorized
	Principal	Amount	following such	signatory of
Date of	Amount of	of this Global	decrease or	Trustee or
Exchange	this Global Note	Note	increase	Custodian
			_	•

^{*} This schedule should be included only if the Note is issued in Global Form.

Form of Supplemental Indenture to be Delivered by Additional Subsidiary Guarantors

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE (this "Supplemental Indenture"), dated as of [] among [] (the "Subsidiary Guarantor"), a [] and a [direct][indirect] subsidiary of The Chemours Company (the "Company") and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee an Indenture (the "<u>Base Indenture</u>"), dated as of November 27, 2020, and a Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 18, 2021 (the "<u>Second Supplemental Indenture</u>" and, together with the Base Indenture, the "<u>Indenture</u>"), providing for the issuance of the 4.625% Senior Notes due 2029 (the "<u>Notes</u>");

WHEREAS, Section 3.9 of the Second Supplemental Indenture provides that under certain circumstances the Company will cause the Subsidiary Guarantor to execute and deliver to the Trustee a guaranty agreement pursuant to which the Subsidiary Guarantor will Guarantee payment of the Notes on the same terms and conditions as those set forth in Article 3 of the Second Supplemental Indenture; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10.01(d) of the Base Indenture, the Trustee and the Company are authorized to execute and deliver this Supplemental Indenture.

For and in consideration of the foregoing and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the Company, the Subsidiary Guarantor and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the Notes as follows:

SECTION 1. Capitalized Terms. Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture.

SECTION 2. <u>Guarantees</u>. The Subsidiary Guarantor hereby agrees, jointly and severally with all other Subsidiary Guarantors, to guarantee the Company's obligations under the Notes (including the Guaranteed Obligations) on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in Article 3 of the Second Supplemental Indenture and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture.

SECTION 3. <u>Ratification of Indenture</u>; <u>Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture</u>. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Indenture is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force and effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture for all purposes, and every holder of Notes heretofore or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.

SECTION 4. <u>Governing Law.</u> THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AND FOR ALL PURPOSES SHALL BE CONSTRUED UNDER THE LAWS OF SUCH STATE, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW.

SECTION 5. <u>Trustee Makes No Representation</u>. The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity or sufficiency of this Supplemental Indenture. The recitals herein contained are made by the Company and not by the Trustee, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for the correctness thereof.

SECTION 6. <u>Counterparts</u>. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an original, but all of them together represent the same agreement.

SECTION 7. Effect of Headings. The Section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Supplemental Indenture.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the date first written above.

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY
Ву:
Name:
Title:
[SUBSIDIARY GUARANTOR]
By:
Name:
Title:
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee
By:
Name:
Title·

SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE

Dated as of August 18, 2021

to

INDENTURE

Dated as of May 12, 2015

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY,

THE GUARANTORS PARTY THERETO,

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as Trustee,

ELAVON FINANCIAL SERVICES DAC, UK BRANCH,

as Paying Agent,

and

ELAVON FINANCIAL SERVICES DAC,

as Registrar and Transfer Agent

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I		PAGE 1			
SECTION 1.01	Definitions	1			
ARTICLE II AMENDM	MENTS TO THE INDENTURE	2			
SECTION 2.01	Amendments to the Indenture	2			
ARTICLE III MISCELLANEOUS					
SECTION 3.01	Ratification of Original Indenture; Supplemental Indenture Part of Original Indenture	2			
SECTION 3.02	Concerning the Trustee	2			
SECTION 3.03	Multiple Originals; Electronic Signatures	2			
SECTION 3.04	GOVERNING LAW	2			

SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of August 18, 2021 (this "Sixth Supplemental Indenture"), to the Indenture, dated as of May 12, 2015 (the "Original Indenture"), among THE CHEMOURS COMPANY, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), each of the subsidiary guarantors party thereto or that becomes a guarantor pursuant to the terms of the Original Indenture (the "Guarantors"), U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association organized under the laws of the United States, as trustee (the "Trustee"), ELAVON FINANCIAL SERVICES DAC, UK BRANCH, a limited liability company registered in Ireland with the Companies Registration Office (registered number 418442), with its registered office at Building 8, Cherrywood Business Park, Loughlinstown, Dublin 18, D18 W319, Ireland acting through its UK Branch (registered number BR009373) from its offices at 125 Old Broad Street, Fifth Floor, London EC2N 1AR, United Kingdom, as paying agent (the "Paying Agent"), and ELAVON FINANCIAL SERVICES DAC, a limited liability company registered in Ireland with the Companies Registration Office (registered number 418442), with its registered office at Building 8, Cherrywood Business Park, Loughlinstown, Dublin 18, D18 W319, Ireland, as registrar (the "Registrar") and transfer agent (the "Transfer Agent" and, together with the Paying Agent and the Registrar, the "Euro Agents").

WHEREAS, the Company, the Guarantors, the Trustee and the Euro Agents have heretofore executed and delivered the Original Indenture to provide for the issuance from time to time of Notes of the Company, to be issued in one or more Series;

WHEREAS, the Company, the Guarantors party thereto and the Trustee have heretofore executed and delivered the Second Supplemental Indenture (the "Second Supplemental Indenture"), dated May 12, 2015, to establish the form and terms of and to provide for the issuance of the Company's 7.000% Senior Notes Due 2025 (the "2025 Notes");

WHEREAS, Section 9.02 of the Original Indenture provides, among other things, that except as provided therein, the Company, the Guarantors and the Trustee may amend the Original Indenture, any Guarantee and the Notes (in each case with respect to one or Series of Notes) with the written consent of the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the applicable Series then Outstanding, including consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for the Notes;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore obtained the written consent of the Holders of more than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Notes to the amendments described in Article II of this Sixth Supplemental Indenture;

WHEREAS, the Issuer has heretofore delivered to the Trustee the Officer's Certificate and Opinion of Counsel described in Sections 9.05, 11.04 and 11.05 of the Original Indenture;

WHEREAS, all action on the part of the Company necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Sixth Supplemental Indenture have been duly taken; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.02 of the Original Indenture, the Company, the Guarantors and the Trustee are authorized to execute and deliver this Sixth Supplemental Indenture (the Original Indenture, as supplemented by the Second Supplemental Indenture and this Sixth Supplemental Indenture being hereinafter called the "Indenture").

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH:

That, in consideration of the foregoing and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

SECTION 1.01. Definitions.

- (a) Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the Original Indenture, as supplemented by the Second Supplemental Indenture.
- (b) The rules of interpretation set forth in the Original Indenture shall be applied hereto as if set forth in full herein.

ARTICLE II

AMENDMENTS TO THE INDENTURE

SECTION 2.01. Amendments to the Indenture.

(a) The first sentence of the first paragraph of Section 2.10(b) of the Second Supplemental Indenture shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

"On and after May 15, 2020, the Company may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, upon not less than 2 business days' nor more than 60 calendar days' notice, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed) set forth below, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, to the date of redemption (the "Redemption Date"), subject to the right of Holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date, if redeemed beginning on May 15 of the years indicated below:"

(b) The second paragraph of Section 2.10(b) of the Second Supplemental Indenture shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

"Notwithstanding the foregoing, in connection with any tender offer for all of the outstanding Notes at a price of at least 100% of the principal amount of the Notes tendered, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the applicable tender settlement date (including any Change of Control Offer), if Holders of not less than 90% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes validly tender and do not withdraw such Notes in such tender offer and the Company, or (in the case of a Change of Control Offer) any third party making such a tender offer in lieu of the Company, purchases all of the Notes validly tendered and not validly withdrawn by such Holders, the Company or such third party will have the right, upon not less than 1 business day's nor more than 60 calendar days' prior notice, given not more than 30 calendar days following such purchase date, to redeem all Notes that remain Outstanding following such purchase at a price equal to the price offered to each other Holder in such tender offer plus, to the extent not included in the tender offer payment, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon, to, but excluding, the Redemption Date."

ARTICLE III

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 3.01. <u>Ratification of Original Indenture</u>; <u>Supplemental Indenture Part of Original Indenture</u>. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Original Indenture, including Section 11.18 thereof regarding submission to jurisdiction, is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force and effect. This Sixth Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Original Indenture for all purposes, and every Holder of Notes heretofore or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.

SECTION 3.02. <u>Concerning the Trustee</u>. The recitals contained herein and in the 2025 Notes, except with respect to the Trustee's certificates of authentication, shall be taken as the statements of the Company, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for the correctness of the same. The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Sixth Supplemental Indenture or of the 2025 Notes.

SECTION 3.03. <u>Multiple Originals</u>; <u>Electronic Signatures</u>. This Sixth Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. The exchange of copies of this Sixth Supplemental Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile or PDF transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Sixth Supplemental Indenture as to the parties hereto and may be used in lieu of the original Sixth Supplemental Indenture for all purposes. Signatures of the parties hereto transmitted by facsimile or PDF shall be deemed to be their original signatures for all purposes.

SECTION 3.04. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. THIS SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE AND EACH NOTE OF THE SERIES CREATED HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Sixth Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above written.

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

THE CHEMOURS COMPANY FC, LLC

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

CHEMFIRST INC.

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

FIRST CHEMICAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

FIRST CHEMICAL TEXAS, L.P.

By FT CHEMICAL INC., its general partner

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

FT CHEMICAL, INC.

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

FIRST CHEMICAL HOLDINGS, LLC

By: /s/ Sameer Ralhan

Name: Sameer Ralhan

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

[Signature Page to Sixth Supplemental Indenture]

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By: /s/ Annette Marsula

Name: Annette Marsula
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Sixth Supplemental Indenture]



THE CHEMOURS COMPANY ANNOUNCES EARLY TENDER RESULTS OF CONDITIONAL CASH TENDER OFFER AND CONSENT SOLICITATION FOR ANY AND ALL OF ITS 7.000% SENIOR NOTES MATURING IN 2025 AND RECEIPT OF REQUISITE CONSENTS

WILMINGTON, Del., August 17, 2021/PRNewswire/ – The Chemours Company ("**Chemours**") (NYSE: CC), a global chemistry company with leading market positions in Titanium Technologies, Thermal & Specialized Solutions, Advanced Performance Materials, and Chemical Solutions, today announced the early tender results as of 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on August 17, 2021 (the "**Early Tender Deadline**") of its previously announced tender offer (the "**Tender Offer**") to purchase for cash any and all of its outstanding 7.000% senior notes due 2025 (the "**Notes**").

In connection with the Tender Offer, Chemours also announced the results as of the Early Tender Deadline of its previously announced solicitation of consents (the "Consents") from holders of the Notes (the "Consent Solicitation") to the proposed amendments to the indenture, dated as of May 12, 2015 (the "Base Indenture"), as supplemented by the second supplemental indenture (the "Second Supplemental Indenture"), dated May 12, 2015, which governs the Notes (the Second Supplemental Indenture, together with the Base Indenture, the "Indenture"), providing for the shortening of the minimum notice periods under the Indenture for the optional redemption of the Notes by Chemours (the "Proposed Amendments").

The terms and conditions of the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation are described in an Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement, dated August 4, 2021 (the "Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement").

The aggregate principal amount of Notes validly tendered and not validly withdrawn at or prior to the Early Tender Deadline (the "Early Tender Notes"), as well as the percent of the aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding constituting Early Tender Notes, is set forth in the columns entitled "Aggregate Principal Amount of Early Tender Notes" and "Percent of Outstanding Principal Amount Tendered," respectively, in the table below. The consideration being offered for any such Early Tender Notes accepted for purchase in the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation is also set forth in the table below:

			Aggregate Principal	Percent of Outstanding			
	Outstanding	TT:-1 6	Amount of	Principal			Total
CUSIP / ISIN	Principal Amount	Title of Notes	Early Tender Notes	Amount Tendered	Early Tender Pavment(1)(2)	Tender Offer Consideration(1)(3)	Consideration (1)(3)
Registered Notes:	\$750,000,000	7.000% Senior Notes	\$462,076,000	61.61%	\$ 30.00	\$ 995.00	\$ 1,025.00
CUSIP: 163851AD0		due May 15, 2025					
ISIN: US163851AD01		, and the second second					

(1) Per \$1,000 principal amount of Early Tender Notes accepted for purchase.



- (2) Included in the Total Consideration for Early Tender Notes accepted for purchase.
- (3) Does not include accrued and unpaid interest that will be paid on the Early Tender Notes accepted for purchase.

The Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation will expire at Midnight, New York City time, at the end of August 31, 2021, unless extended or earlier terminated by Chemours (the "Expiration Date"). No tenders submitted after the Expiration Date will be valid. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation, holders of the Early Tender Notes will receive the Total Consideration set forth in the table above, which includes the Early Tender Payment set forth in the table above. Holders of Notes tendering their Notes after the Early Tender Deadline and prior to the Expiration Date will only be eligible to receive the Tender Offer Consideration set forth in the table above, which is the Total Consideration less the Early Tender Payment.

The Early Settlement Date (as defined in the Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement) for the Early Tender Notes is expected to be on August 18, 2021. Any Notes validly tendered and related consents validly delivered after the Early Tender Deadline may not be withdrawn or revoked, except as required by law. Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation, Chemours expects to accept for purchase any remaining Notes that have been validly tendered and not validly withdrawn after the Early Tender Deadline and at or prior to the Expiration Date promptly following the Expiration Date on the Final Settlement Date (as defined in the Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement), which is expected to occur two business days following the Expiration Date, or as promptly as practicable thereafter.

In addition, holders of all Notes validly tendered and accepted for purchase pursuant to the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation will receive accrued and unpaid interest on such Notes from the last interest payment date with respect to such Notes to, but not including, the Early Settlement Date or the Final Settlement Date, as applicable.

Chemours' obligations to accept Notes and Consents on the Early Settlement Date or the Final Settlement Date, as applicable, are subject to, and conditioned upon, the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions described in the Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement, including, among others, Chemours consummating the New Debt Financing (as defined in the Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement) on terms satisfactory to it, and having funds available therefrom that will allow it to purchase the Notes pursuant to the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation.

In addition, because Chemours received Consents in respect of a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding (excluding Notes held by Chemours or its affiliates) (the "**Requisite Consents**") as of the Early Tender Deadline, Chemours expects to execute and deliver a supplemental indenture to the Indenture giving effect to the Proposed Amendments promptly after accepting for purchase the Early Tender Notes on the Early Settlement Date. The Proposed Amendments are expected to become operative on the Early Settlement Date, after which Chemours intends to issue a notice of redemption to redeem all of the Notes not purchased pursuant to the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation on the Early Settlement Date.

This press release does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any security. No offer, solicitation, or sale will be made in any jurisdiction in which such an offer, solicitation, or sale would be unlawful. This press release shall not constitute a notice of redemption under the Indenture or an obligation to issue a notice of redemption.



Citigroup Global Markets Inc. is the dealer manager and solicitation agent (the "Dealer Manager") in the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation. Global Bondholder Services Corporation has been retained to serve as both the depositary and the information agent (the "Depositary and Information Agent") for the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation. Questions regarding the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation should be directed to the Dealer Manager at (800) 558-3745 (Toll Free) or (212) 723-6106. Requests for copies of the Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement and other related materials should be directed to Global Bondholder Services Corporation at contact@gbsc-usa.com (email), (866) 470-3800 (U.S. Toll-Free), (212) 430-3774 (Banks and Brokers) or at https://www.gbsc-usa.com/Chemours/ (website).

None of Chemours, its board of directors, the Dealer Manager, the Depositary and Information Agent, the Trustee under the Indenture, the Paying Agent under the Indenture or the Registrar and Transfer Agent under the Indenture or any of Chemours' affiliates, makes any recommendation as to whether holders of the Notes should tender any Notes in response to the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation. The Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation are made only by the Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement. The Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation are not being made to holders of Notes in any jurisdiction in which the making or acceptance thereof would not be in compliance with the securities, blue sky or other laws of such jurisdiction. In any jurisdiction in which the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation are required to be made by a licensed broker or dealer, the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation will be deemed to be made on behalf of Chemours by the Dealer Manager or one or more registered brokers or dealers that are licensed under the laws of such jurisdiction.

About The Chemours Company

The Chemours Company (NYSE: CC) is a global leader in Titanium Technologies, Thermal & Specialized Solutions, Advanced Performance Materials, and Chemical Solutions, providing its customers with solutions in a wide range of industries with market-defining products, application expertise and chemistry-based innovations. Chemours delivers customized solutions with a wide range of industrial and specialty chemicals products for markets, including coatings, plastics, refrigeration and air conditioning, transportation, semiconductor and consumer electronics, general industrial, mining, and oil and gas. Our flagship products include prominent brands such as Ti-Pure™, Opteon™, Freon™, Teflon™, Viton™, Nafion™, and Krytox™. In 2019, Chemours was named to Newsweek's list of America's Most Responsible Companies. Chemours has approximately 6,500 employees and 30 manufacturing sites serving approximately 3,300 customers in approximately 120 countries. Chemours is headquartered in Wilmington, Delaware and is listed on the NYSE under the symbol CC.

Forward Looking Statements

This press release contains forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events based on certain assumptions and include any statement that does not directly relate to a historical or current fact. The words "believe," "expect," "will," "anticipate," "plan," "estimate," "target," "project" and similar expressions, among others, generally identify "forward-looking statements," which speak only as of the date such statements were made. These forward-looking statements may address, among other things,



the outcome or resolution of any pending or future environmental liabilities, the commencement, outcome or resolution of any regulatory inquiry, investigation or proceeding, the initiation, outcome or settlement of any litigation, changes in environmental regulations in the U.S. or other jurisdictions that affect demand for or adoption of our products, anticipated future operating and financial performance for our segments individually and our company as a whole, business plans, prospects, targets, goals and commitments, capital investments and projects and target capital expenditures, plans for dividends or share repurchases, sufficiency or longevity of intellectual property protection, cost reductions or savings targets, plans to increase profitability and growth, our ability to make acquisitions, integrate acquired businesses or assets into our operations, achieve anticipated synergies or cost savings, the terms and timing for completion of the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation, including the acceptance for purchase of any Notes validly tendered and any related Consents validly delivered, the expected Early Tender Deadline, Expiration Date and Settlement Dates thereof, and the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions of the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation and statements regarding the terms or timing of the New Debt Financing and the redemption of the Notes, all of which are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such statements. Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and expectations of future events that may not be accurate or realized. These statements are not guarantees of future performance. Forward-looking statements also involve risks and uncertainties that are beyond Chemours' control. Factors that may cause actual results to vary include, but are not limited to, conditions in financial markets and investor response to Chemours' Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation and inadequate investor response on adequate terms to the New Debt Financing intended to satisfy the condition to the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation. In addition, the current COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted the national and global economy and commodity and financial markets, which has had and we expect will continue to have a negative impact on our financial results. The full extent and impact of the pandemic is unknown and to date has included extreme volatility in financial and commodity markets, a significant slowdown in economic activity, and increased predictions of a global recession. The public and private sector response has led to significant restrictions on travel, temporary business closures, quarantines, stock market volatility, and a general reduction in consumer and commercial activity globally. Matters outside our control have affected our business and operations and may continue to limit travel of employees to our business units domestically and internationally, adversely affect the health and welfare of our personnel, significantly reduce the demand for our products, hinder our ability to provide goods and services to customers, cause disruptions in our supply chains, adversely affect our business partners or cause other unpredictable events. Additionally, there may be other risks and uncertainties that Chemours is unable to identify at this time or that Chemours does not currently expect to have a material impact on its business. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include, but are not limited to the risks, uncertainties and other factors discussed in our filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, including in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020. Chemours assumes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statement for any reason, except as required by law.



CONTACT

INVESTORS

Jonathan Lock VP, Corporate Development and Investor Relations +1.302.773.2263 investor@chemours.com

NEWS MEDIA

Cassie Olszewski Media Relations and Financial Communications Manager +1.302.219.7140 media@chemours.com



August 18, 2021 FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

The Chemours Company Announces Completion of Private Offering of \$650 Million Aggregate Principal Amount of 4.625% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2029

WILMINGTON, Del. August 18, 2021/PRNewswire/ – The Chemours Company ("Chemours") (NYSE: CC), a global chemistry company with leading market positions in Titanium Technologies, Thermal & Specialized Solutions, Advanced Performance Materials, and Chemical Solutions, today announced it has completed its previously announced private offering (the "offering") of \$650 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.625% senior unsecured notes due 2029 that was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). The notes are Chemours' senior unsecured obligations and are guaranteed by certain of its subsidiaries.

The net proceeds of the offering are expected to be used, together with cash on hand, (i) to fund the purchase price and accrued and unpaid interest for any and all of Chemours' outstanding 7.000% senior notes due 2025 (the "existing 2025 notes") validly tendered and accepted for payment pursuant to Chemours' previously announced cash tender offer for any and all of the existing 2025 notes (the "Tender Offer") and (ii) to the extent applicable, to fund the redemption price and accrued and unpaid interest for any existing 2025 notes that remain outstanding after the completion or termination of the Tender Offer.

The notes and the related guarantees have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws, and unless so registered, may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and other applicable securities laws. The notes were offered only to persons reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act and to non-U.S. persons in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act.

This press release shall not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities, nor shall there be any sale of these securities in any state or jurisdiction in which such an offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such state or jurisdiction. This press release is not an offer to purchase or the solicitation of an offer to sell any of the existing 2025 notes. The Tender Offer referenced herein is being made only by and pursuant to the terms of the applicable Offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation Statement. The statements in this press release with respect to the redemption of the existing 2025 notes do not constitute a notice of redemption under the indenture governing the existing 2025 notes. Any such notice has or will be sent to holders of existing 2025 notes only in accordance with the provisions of such indenture.

About The Chemours Company

The Chemours Company (NYSE: CC) is a global leader in Titanium Technologies, Thermal & Specialized Solutions, Advanced Performance Materials, and Chemical Solutions, providing its customers with solutions in a wide range of industries with market-defining products, application

expertise and chemistry-based innovations. Chemours delivers customized solutions with a wide range of industrial and specialty chemicals products for markets, including coatings, plastics, refrigeration and air conditioning, transportation, semiconductor and consumer electronics, general industrial, mining, and oil and gas. Our flagship products include prominent brands such as Ti-PureTM, OpteonTM, FreonTM, VitonTM, NafionTM, and KrytoxTM. In 2019, Chemours was named to Newsweek's list of America's Most Responsible Companies. Chemours has approximately 6,500 employees and 30 manufacturing sites serving approximately 3,300 customers in approximately 120 countries. Chemours is headquartered in Wilmington, Delaware and is listed on the NYSE under the symbol CC.

Forward-Looking Statements

This press release contains forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events based on certain assumptions and include any statement that does not directly relate to a historical or current fact. The words "believe," "expect," "will," "anticipate," "plan," "estimate," "target," "project" and similar expressions, among others, generally identify "forward-looking statements," which speak only as of the date such statements were made. These forward-looking statements may address, among other things, the outcome or resolution of any pending or future environmental liabilities, the commencement, outcome or resolution of any regulatory inquiry, investigation or proceeding, the initiation, outcome or settlement of any litigation, changes in environmental regulations in the U.S. or other jurisdictions that affect demand for or adoption of our products, anticipated future operating and financial performance for our segments individually and our company as a whole, business plans, prospects, targets, goals and commitments, capital investments and projects and target capital expenditures, plans for dividends or share repurchases, sufficiency or longevity of intellectual property protection, cost reductions or savings targets, plans to increase profitability and growth, our ability to make acquisitions, integrate acquired businesses or assets into our operations, achieve anticipated synergies or cost savings, the terms and timing for completion of the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation, including the acceptance for purchase of any Notes validly tendered and any related Consents validly delivered, the expected Expiration Date and Settlement Dates thereof, and the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions of the Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation and the redemption of the Notes, all of which are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such statements. Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and expectations of future events that may not be accurate or realized. These statements are not guarantees of future performance. Forward-looking statements also involve risks and uncertainties that are beyond Chemours' control. Factors that may cause actual results to vary include, but are not limited to, conditions in financial markets and investor response to Chemours' Tender Offer and Consent Solicitation. In addition, the current COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted the national and global economy and commodity and financial markets, which has had and we expect will continue to have a negative impact on our financial results. The full extent and impact of the pandemic is unknown and to date has included extreme volatility in financial and commodity markets, a significant slowdown in economic activity, and increased predictions of a global recession. The public and private sector response has led to significant restrictions on travel, temporary business closures, quarantines, stock market volatility, and a general reduction in consumer and commercial activity globally. Matters outside our control have affected our business and operations and may continue to limit travel of employees to our business units domestically and internationally, adversely affect the health and welfare of our personnel, significantly reduce the demand for our products, hinder our ability to provide goods and services to customers, cause disruptions in our supply chains, adversely affect our business partners or cause other unpredictable events. Additionally, there may be other risks and uncertainties that Chemours is unable to identify at this time or that Chemours does not currently expect to have a material impact on its business. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include, but are not limited to the risks, uncertainties and other factors discussed in our filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, including in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021

and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020. Chemours assumes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statement for any reason, except as required by law.

CONTACT:

INVESTORS

Jonathan Lock VP, Corporate Development and Investor Relations +1.302.773.2263 investor@chemours.com

NEWS MEDIA

Cassie Olszewski Media Relations and Financial Communications Manager +1.302.219.7140 media@chemours.com